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Section 1: Financial Framework 

 

Policy Statement 

Human Appeals values instil upon it to act with excellence, professionalism and commitment in our work and with 

integrity and transparency in all that we do. We take a zero-tolerance approach to fraud, bribery, corruption and 

are committed to acting professionally, fairly and with integrity in all our operational dealings and relationships 

wherever we operate. 

Refer to Human Appeal values and employee handbook. 

This framework should be read in conjunction with the code of ethics;  

https://www.ncvo.org.uk/images/documents/policy_and_research/ethics/Charity_Code_of_Ethics_.pdf 

 

https://www.ncvo.org.uk/images/documents/policy_and_research/ethics/Charity_Code_of_Ethics_.pdf
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Financial Framework 

The finance manual is applicable to any organisation utilising the trademark, logo, brand of Human Appeal and such 

other legal entities operating under the name of Human Appeal, or any other legal entities that are under the 

ownership or control of Human Appeal entities. Hereafter Human Appeal is referred to as HA.  

The management of HA must ensure that the financial reporting team are knowledgeable about the financial 

guidelines. Further, all HA office and partners should have documented procedures (desktop procedures) pertaining 

to all processes used, which must comply with the HA Finance Manual, provided that local laws and regulations 

permit. 

 

Risk Management 

The Finance Manual is complemented by all organisational policies and procedures but not limited to; 

¶ Global Sanction Policy and Procedures, 

¶ Preventing Bribery and Corruption, 

¶ Risk Management Policy, 

¶ Serious Incident Reporting Policy, 

¶ Counter Terrorism and Anti-Money Laundering Policy, 

¶ Delegation of Authority, 

¶ Capital Expenditure, 

¶ Investment Policy, 

¶ Reserves Policy, 

¶ Procurement Policy and Procedures, 

¶ Travel, Entertainment and Expense Policy and Procedures. 

 

Finance Code of Ethical Conduct  

HA policy for each employee is to read, understand and abide by the Ethical Code of Conduct expected of finance 

professionals, in addition to the values and principles of HA. 

The code requires adherence to the following fundamental principles; 

¶ Integrity – An employee should be straightforward and honest in all professional and business relationships, 

¶ Objectivity – An employee should not allow bias, conflict of interest or undue influence of others to override 

professional or business judgements. 

¶ Professional Competence and Due Care – an employee has a continuing duty to maintain professional 

knowledge and skill at the level required to ensure that HA receives competent professional service based 

on current developments in practice, legislation and techniques. An accounting and finance employee 

should act diligently and in accordance with applicable technical and professional standards when providing 

services to HA. 

¶ Confidentiality – An employee should respect the confidentiality of information acquired as a result of 

professional relationships and should not disclose any such information to third parties without proper and 

specific authority unless there is a legal or professional right or duty to disclose. Confidential information 

acquired as a result of HA relationships should not be used for personal advantage. 

¶ Professional behaviour – An employee should comply with relevant laws and regulations and should avoid 

any action that discredits HA or the finance profession.   
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Employee, Volunteer and Contractor obligations 

All new and existing employees, volunteers and contractors should be made aware of the code by their managers 

and are asked to attest that they understand and will abide by the code. 

Regular training is made available by the finance managers to facilities awareness and discussion with employees 

during staff/departmental meetings. At least annually additional ethics-related awareness materials and/or training 

are made generally available to all employees. 

Employees are inducted, briefed, reminded and expected, to the best of their ability to; 

¶ Act with honesty and integrity, avoiding actual or apparent conflicts of interest in personal and professional 

relationships, 

¶ Provide information that is accurate, complete, objective, relevant, timely and understandable, 

¶ Comply with applicable rules and regulations of country, state, local governments and other appropriate 

regulatory agencies, 

¶ Act in good faith, responsibly, with due care, competence and diligence without misrepresenting material 

facts or allowing any independent judgement to be subordinated, 

¶ Respect the confidentiality of information acquired in the course of their work, except when authorised or 

otherwise legally obligated to disclose. Confidential information acquired in the course of their work is not 

to be used for personal advantage,  

¶ Share knowledge and maintain skills important and relevant to stakeholder needs, 

¶ Proactively promote ethical behaviour as a responsible partner among peers in their work environment, 

¶ Ensure responsible use of, and control over all assets and resources employed or entrusted to them. 

 

Expected Controls 

It is the responsibility of employees who undertake accounting and/or financial activities, or who interact with the 

finance functions, to ensure that they comply with this policy and with the Finance Code of Ethical Conduct. 

Managers should; 

¶ Ensure that new employees entering the department(s) understand and abide by the Finance Code of 

Ethical Conduct, 

¶ Assess each employee’s performance based on this code, with the results and feedback included as part of 

the annual appraisal process, 

¶ Monitor financial activities adequately, be aware of fraud, corruption or bribery risks and follow-up 

questionable or unusual transactions, 

¶ Ensure that all employees understand and contribute to the Finance Code of Ethical Conduct by abiding by 

all financial policies and procedures. Managers should further ensure that employees do not circumvent, 

override or manipulate financial protocols.  
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Section 2: Income 

 

Policy Statement 

HA will adhere to the Charity Commissions guidelines and the Fundraising Regulators code of conduct when 

receiving, handling and recording donations.  Any subsequent updates or changes issued by the Charity Commission 

or Fundraising Regulator will be implemented into the policies and processes by HA. 

HA will identify sources of income as; 

¶ Bank Transfers, 

¶ Agency Income, 

¶ Direct Debits, 

¶ Card, 

¶ Cash & Cheques. 
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Timeline: HA will aim to process, reconcile and review all income received on a weekly and monthly basis, 

reconciling data from the Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system with data from the bank.  

Any discrepancies will be highlighted and investigated, working with the relevant stakeholders to resolve queries.  

Expected Controls; 

¶ Ensure the donation is recorded on the CRM system appropriately i.e. project/item, country and 

stipulations, 

¶ Address and resolve any duplications, 

¶ Investigate and process any refunds to donors and reverse the donations on the CRM system, 

¶ Query any discrepancies with the relevant stakeholders, 

¶ Highlight all donations with the values greater than or equal to £5,000 referring those to the compliance 

department to conduct the necessary due diligence checks, 

¶ Ensure that all cash & cheques received and processed follow the Cash Handling processes and any 

discrepancies are highlighted and addressed, 

¶ Carry out monthly reconciliations for all income streams, investigating and addressing any discrepancies.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 3: Cash and Banking 

 

Policy Statement 

It is HA policy to ensure global consistency in the area of cash and banking. HA conducts general banking with 

financial institutions that meet the criteria identified. The Board of Trustees (BoT) must give its prior approval for 

HA employees to establish banking or financial institutional relationships.  

HA Finance shall be responsible for the opening, closing and maintaining all of HA’s bank accounts. Compliance with 

the following procedures mitigates undue risk and reduces bank-related expenses. 

Bank Account Oversight 

HA shall ensure no other accounts are operated in the name of HA without its knowledge or authority. 

HA shall maintain and ensure the following procedures are in place;  

¶ A central record of all HA bank accounts 

¶ A master mandate exists that covers all HA bank accounts and ensures it is reviewed every 12 months 
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¶ Two senior members of HA are bank signatories 

¶ Periodically, HA will issue all major banks and building societies with a request to divulge any bank accounts 

held in the name HA.  

3a. Bank Reconciliations 

It is HA’s policy to take adequate steps to ensure the accuracy of the bank balances shown in the general ledger. 

Monthly data from the incoming resources - Donor Management System (DMS) and disbursements shall be 

compared with the details reported on the bank statements.  A monthly reconciliation shall be made for each of 

the bank accounts and any discrepancies between DMS and the bank statements shall be identified and 

investigated.  

Procedure 

Bank balances as shown in the bank statements, shall be reconciled monthly with DMS and NAV (accounting 

system). Data from DMS shall be compared on an item-by-item basis, with the details reported on the bank 

statement and any discrepancies shall be investigated.   

Bank statements shall be received by members of the finance team who have responsibility and access to do so and 

shall forward them onto the reconciliations preparer. In order to comply with segregation of duties principle, the 

reconciliation preparer must be someone who does not have access to preparing or issuing payments or preparing 

and depositing cash.     

HA standard reconciliation template must be used. 

The adjusted balance for each section must be equal.  Investigate and address the cause of any discrepancies 

between the two balances, such as; recording errors, omissions, miss-postings and so on.   

Review all outstanding payments over six months for disposition and flag as possible issues and investigate. 

3b. Petty Cash 

It is HA’s policy that, where appropriate, a location may request establishing a petty cash fund, to be used for minor 

operational expenses.  

The petty cash fund must be maintained as cash in hand. IF operations are in high-risk locations, then the petty cash 

fund must operate through a local bank account.  

Finance shall maintain an inventory list of all locations with petty cash funds and must approve the names of those 

persons assigned petty cash responsibilities. Replenishments to the fund follow the Accounts Payable policy & 

procedure.  

Petty Cash Security 

Keys in relation to petty cash are a high-risk area, as such it is not acceptable to lock a desk drawer and hide the key 

somewhere in the office. The key should be held by a responsible person in an undisclosed location and spare key 

held in a high security irremovable safe, so that the key is accessible in the event of an emergency.  

HA shall maintain and ensure the following procedures are in place; 

¶ Defined persons with access to petty cash, all individuals with access shall be held collectively responsible 

for any discrepancies, 

¶ Petty cash shall be held in a secure and lockable box, and the petty cash box shall be held in a secure location 

e.g. an irremovable secure safe, 

¶ The key to the petty cash box shall be retained by a responsible person, 



 14 

¶ The amount of petty cash shall be monitored ensuring it is not in excess/insufficient to meet operational 

needs 

¶ Receipts shall be obtained for all items of petty cash expenditure, 

¶ The appropriate authorised individuals shall approve cash advances, 

¶ Cash advances shall be cleared through the production of receipts obtained, or money returned within a 

time period set in the Cash Advance Section, 

¶ A record shall be maintained for all petty cash expenditure items and HA shall ensure all expenditure items 

are appropriate to petty cash.  

¶ The petty cash box is reconciled monthly to the control sheet  

¶ The cash in the box must be checked by minimum 3 staff. 

Cashiers Role; 

¶ All funds shall be counted, recorded on DMS and banked at the earliest, 

¶ Any funds pending banking shall be held in a secure safe that is irremovable by force, 

¶ The safe shall be locked at all times, 

¶ The Cashier shall leave all personal bags outside the cashier’s office, 

¶ The cashier shall be supported by another individual when counting cash and preparing for banking 

collection by secure courier, 

¶ All funds shall be banked at least weekly, 

¶ Where banking is required, two individuals shall bank the funds. 

3c. Non-Traditional Banking 

As defined by Charity Commission CC8 5.5 Non-Traditional Banking Methods; 

ά{ƻƳŜ ŎƘŀǊƛǘƛŜǎ ǳǎŜ ŀƭǘŜǊƴative banking methods, rather than traditional, or electronic banking in areas where 

banking facilities are not available and urgent needs have to be met. These methods include the use of money 

transfer facilities to transfer funds (in the high street or vƛŀ ǘƘŜ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŜǘύΣ ΨƘŀǿŀƭŀΩ ōŀƴƪƛƴƎ όǳǎŜŘ ƛƴ aǳǎƭƛƳ 

ŎƻƳƳǳƴƛǘƛŜǎύΣ ΨŎƘƛǘƛΩ ōŀƴƪƛƴƎ όǳǎŜŘ ƛƴ IƛƴŘǳ ŎƻƳƳǳƴƛǘƛŜǎύΣ ΨŎƘƻǇ-ǎƘƻǇΩ όǳǎŜŘ ƛƴ /ƘƛƴŜǎŜ ŎƻƳƳǳƴƛǘƛŜǎύΣ ΨŦŜƛ-ŎƘΩƛŜƴΩ 

ŀƴŘ ΨƘǳƛ ƪǳƴΩ όǳǎŜŘ ƛƴ {ƻǳǘƘ 9ŀǎǘ !ǎƛŀύ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǘǊŀƴǎŦŜǊ ƻŦ ŦǳƴŘǎ ŦŀŎƛƭƛǘŀǘŜŘ ōȅ ƳƻōƛƭŜ ǘŜlephones (used in some 

African countries) or by multi-function handsets.  

There are also other ways of making payments, i.e. through internet service providers, or by using a contactless 

όΨǿŀǾŜ ŀƴŘ ǇŀȅΩύ ǇŀȅƳŜƴǘ ŎŀǊŘΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǳǎŜǎ ŎƘƛǇ-and-pin technology to enable payments to be made from cards that 

have already been credited with cash. Contactless payment is also being developed using mobile telephones and 

adapted tills or scanners. In certain countries mobile phone operators act as intermediaries. For a fee they will permit 

an account holder to purchase items using their mobile phone account at registered retailers, draw cash via the 

ƻǇŜǊŀǘƻǊΩǎ ƭƻŎŀƭ ƻŦŦƛŎŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǊŜƎƛǎǘŜǊŜŘ ƻǳǘƭŜǘǎΣ ƻǊ ǘǊŀƴǎŦŜǊ ŎŀǎƘ ǘƻ ǘƘƛǊŘ ǇŀǊǘƛŜǎ ōȅ ǿŀȅ ƻŦ ΨƳƻōƛƭŜ ƳƻƴŜȅ ŎǊŜŘƛǘǎΩΦέ  

 

Expected Controls when using non-traditional banking methods; 

¶ Carry out adequate due diligence checks to ensure the person or entity to which it is sending money is 

known and trustworthy, 

¶ Ensure funds transferred by such methods are strictly limited to meeting essential needs where 

conventional banking systems cannot be used, 

¶ Avoid, where practical, making subsequent transfers until receipt of a previous transfer can be confirmed 

by the intended recipient, 

¶ Exceptional use of non-traditional banking method and circumstances must be documented and reported 

periodically to the Board of Trustees, 
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¶ Expenditure should be subject to the same authorisation procedures for all other payments as set out in 

the HA Finance, Procurement and delegation policies and procedures, 

¶ Ensure that documentation and an audit trail is maintained for all transactions, an audit trail should include 

for each transaction including; payment vouchers (equivalent to cheques), post transaction documentation 

(equivalent to bank statements), providing details of the intermediary’s name and address, amount, the 

date of payment, the name of the person making the payment, the fee charged and the payee. 

3d. Cash Controls in a programme implementation environment; 

¶ Managers shall ensure that only the minimum amount of cash needed to operate efficiently is maintained, 

¶ The Cashier shall ensure that funds received are kept separate from the petty cash fund and ensure that 

funds received shall immediately be paid into the bank, 

¶ Recording of all cash items received or paid must take place as soon as possible after the transaction has 

occurred, 

¶ The Cashier shall issue pre-printed numbered receipts, with HA’s name for any cash received, these shall 

be written in ink and the cashier shall keep a copy, 

¶ A receipt, written in ink, must be requested and retained when funds are paid out in cash. If this is not 

possible – for example, if at a local market, then the Cashier must ensure that each transaction is recorded 

immediately and transferred to a petty cash slip, which shall be counter-signed by the manager, 

¶ The Finance Officer shall stamp “paid” on all vouchers and support documents, 

¶ Cash shall be kept in a secure place – preferably in a locked box, which shall be kept in a safe, 

¶ A senior employee should count the cash regularly and check that it corresponds with the ledger. The 

employee and the Cashier should sign the cash book to confirm that the count has been made, 

¶ The Finance Manager or Director shall set the limit above which the Cashier must obtain the approval of a 

manager, 

¶ Segregation of duties must be maintained between those of the Cashier, and the posting of transactions to 

the ledger, 

¶ The Cashier should check regularly how much cash remains, and must inform a senior employee if it is 

insufficient for day-to-day operations, 

¶ The Finance Manager should ensure that one individual takes over, both persons shall agree the cash 

balance and sign the cash balance, 

¶ When operating in a cash environment, HA shall use official printed purchase requisitions, purchase orders, 

cash receipts and disbursement vouchers and payments, all of which shall be sequentially numbered, 

¶ Regular reconciliations between cash and the ledger shall be undertaken, reviewed and signed off by a 

manager, 

¶ Managers and other senior personnel shall undertake unannounced spot checks of cash for the purpose of 

account reconciliation. All cash-counts shall have two individuals present. 

Where HA is expected to operate in a cash environment the following controls shall be in place for cash in transit; 

¶ Taking foreign currency or local currency shall not contravene the UK laws or the currency exchange laws 

of the country concerned, 

¶ The individual carrying cash has security arrangements in place and written authority from HA senior 

leadership to carry cash, 

¶ All funds have been counted and verified by at least two people, excluding the person carrying the funds, 

¶ The overseas office/partner shall be notified in advance of the funds to be expected, 

¶ The person carrying the funds shall be covered by HA’s insurance, 

¶ The person carrying the funds shall be escorted to the point of departure (i.e. airport), 
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¶ The person carrying the funds shall be met on arrival, 

¶ The funds shall be recounted on arrival by at least two people, excluding the person carrying the funds, 

¶ The Funds shall be deposited in a secure safe location when they arrive. 

3e. Expected Cash & Bank controls 

HA is expected to implement the following controls; 

Control Objectives Expected Controls 

Bank accounts are appropriately authorised and 

reviewed. 

¶ Bank accounts should be maintained in 

accordance with HA Financial Regulations. 

¶ Accounts are held with banks that are 

regulated to international Financial/ Banking 

standards by reputable and recognised 

regulatory bodies. 

¶ At least annually, the Head of Finance or 

equivalent reviews and reports on the status of 

all bank accounts to determine that a business 

case and an organisational reason still exists for 

the continuation of the account. If it is 

determined that no reason exists for keeping 

an account open, then the account must be 

closed.   

No credit arrangements are in place. ¶ The bank mandates do not allow overdraft 

facilities. Overdraft facilities are not used as a 

matter of policy. 

¶ Loans are not taken as a matter of policy except 

for those approved by HA Board of Directors.  

Bank accounts are controlled by at least three 

signatories representing senior employees. 

¶ Senior and responsible personnel (three 

minimum) should be appointed as signatories. 

This is reflected in the bank mandates. 

Appropriate BACS controls such as authorisation limits 

for payments exists over bank and cash. 

¶ Systems based controls in place to force 

authorisation as per approved bank signatories 

list. 

All bank accounts are reconciled to accounting records. ¶ All bank accounts at all locations should be 

reconciled on a monthly basis. 

¶ Bank reconciliations should be received by a 

senior officer independently.  

Overseas Project Funding 

Control Objectives Expected Controls 

Segregation of duties is in place between staff handling 

funds and staff accounting funds. 

¶ Bank signatories of all banks should not be 

individual(s) involved with transaction 

management and processing in the finance and 

accounting functions.  

Physical security exists over cash, cheques and 

Purchase Orders (PO) 

¶ Secured in the office. 
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¶ Bank statements, cheque books and paying in 

books are held centrally by head office. 

Petty cash spend is controlled. ¶ Petty cash policy and procedures shall be 

adhered to. 

¶ Regular reconciliations carried out and 

independently reviewed.  

Project related cash advances are controlled. ¶ Policy and procedures shall be adhered to. 

¶ Regular reconciliations carried out and 

independently reviewed.  

 

¶ Verification shall be undertaken that the bank account held by the partner office operates on an 

appropriate international scale. 

¶ Transfers of funds shall only be arranged through a UK bank account or foreign exchange provider. 

¶ Confirmation shall be obtained from the receiving bank or partner office following the transmission of 

funds. 

¶ Ensure that the partner office employs an accountant or book-keeper. 

¶ Ensure that the individual has been trained on HA’s financial procedures. 

¶ The partner office shall submit monthly accounts and reports. 

¶ The senior person in-charge at the partner office shall counter-sign the accounts. 

¶ HA reporting requirements shall be adhered to. 

3f. Foreign Exchange Management 

HA has designated its finance function as the sole resource for providing currency exchange rates for use in financial 

transactions and reporting. Financial Accounting has the responsibility to input the exchange rates into the 

accounting system (NAV). Any subsidiaries, branches or field offices shall use the exchange rates provided to 

translate local currency transactions into British Pound Sterling (GBP).  

IT is HA’s policy to recognise exchange gains and losses in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

(GAAP) in the period they occur. 

It is HA policy to set all budgets in local currency and transfer funds to field or supported operations in their 

functional local currency, bearing the risk currency translation exposure and for countries in high volatile 

environments, the inflationary impact. 

The exception shall be countries that have no functional currency and transactions are conducted in other major 

currencies. HA shall set budgets in GBP and transfer funds in GBP. 

Procedures  

The Following definitions refer to these policy and procedures; 

Exchange Rates - Are defined as a rate where one unit of currency can be exchanged or converted into another 

currency. Exchange rates are an expression of the amount, one unit of currency it would take to equal one unit of 

another currency, 

Functional Currency - Is defined as the currency in which HA normally generates and spends its cash, and that in 

which transactions are normally undertaken in a specific country. It is the currency of the primary economic 

environment in the country in which HA operates. It may not be the currency of all the state itself. A functional 

currency does not change. 
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Recording Transactions – All transactions other than those in functional currencies are treated as foreign currencies. 

Transactions should be recorded at the rate of the exchange on the day the transaction was made.  

The rate from www.Oanda.com can be used unless there is a government-defined source for exchange rates. 

Foreign Currency Translation – Refers to the process used to express functional currency, non-UK financial 

statements into the reporting currency – e.g. GBP.    

Presentation (reporting) Currency 

Where applicable HA shall convert all transactions into one standard reporting currency. This allows HA to monitor 

the overall office expenditure and compare it to the budgets. The presentation currency of HA is the currency the 

budget is set. 

Foreign Currency Transactions arise when; 

¶ HA buys or sells goods or services, the prices of which are denominated in a foreign currency other than 

the functional currency, 

¶ HA receives funds or makes payments in a foreign currency other than the functional currency, 

¶ HA is a party to a foreign currency spot-rate or forward option contract, 

¶ HA for other reasons acquires or disposes of assets or incurs or settles liabilities denominated in a foreign 

currency.  

Managing Foreign Exchange Exposure 

The finance function performs an ongoing assessment and evaluation of the bank/ exchange (FX) rate provider’s 

abilities to satisfy the needs of HA and makes appropriate changes whenever necessary. 

Criteria used to ensure effective foreign exchange management may include; 

¶ Procurement of currencies ensuring best FX rates are achieved and costs minimised, 

¶ Ensuring budgeting currency and transfer currency are aligned, 

¶ Transfer to offices on a monthly basis, where countries are more volatile, 

¶ Ensuring the translation is undertaken in the most cost-effective manner e.g. avoiding two sets of fees, 

thereby reducing the impact of FX rates on the outputs of humanitarian programmes, 

¶ Budget rate to be applied to project proposals is approved by Finance based on consideration of fluctuations 

of submission proposals and pre-financing being received, 

¶ Assess what currency offices incur expenditure in and what currency transfers should be sent in. 

Finance performs on ongoing proactive assessment in understanding what currency is really needed locally. Finance 

with counterparts responsible for grant management may at times need to negotiate with donors to; 

¶ Review donor agreements for foreign exchange implications, 

¶ Opportunities to gain compensation for FX rate impacts, 

¶ Influence donors to understand that there may be a need to scale down outputs, 

¶ Renegotiate with partners on fixed costs i.e. salaries. 

Reporting 

Exchange rates are used in converting transactions for representation within HA’s financial statements. HA 

calculates and uses the following FX rates; 

Income statement or profit and loss statement (P&L) rate – refers to the daily spot-rates used to translate the foreign 

currency P&L for the period into functional currency. This rate is gathered as a daily spot-rates quoted as on 

http://www.oanda.com/
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www.Oanda.com or bank or government defined FX rate sources. For reporting currency, the average 30-day daily 

average spot-rates should be used. 

Statement of financial position balance sheet (B/S) rate – is determined using the last day of the months spot-rate 

and is used when translating the foreign currency B/S into reporting currency. The spot-rate is taken from the last 

day of the months P/L input. 

Budget rates – are the forward-looking FX rates used when translating the budgets for plan and forecast purposes. 

The budget rate is based on information available and includes management discretion. Once established, the 

budget FX rates are not changed during the planning year. Budget variances due to exchange differences shall be 

calculated and documented. 

Once the FX rates have been compiled from the independent published sources, the rates are input into the 

accounting system and made available to the relevant departments/units.   

Donor-funded programmes – exchange rates 

Reference must be made to the donor guidelines to ensure that the correct updated position is applied. 

Areas of Responsibility 

Finance is responsible for issuing FX rates as per the methodology above and secured from an independent 

published source. 

Finance is responsible for; 

¶ Managing and procuring foreign exchange requirements to minimise the number of currency translations, 

fees and charges, 

¶ Reviewing the rates and posting (uploading) the rates into the accounting system, 

¶ Validating the rates to ensure that the posting of the rates was done accurately, 

¶ Checking the specific FX rates used. 

3g. Pre-paid card and out of pocket expenses 

Objective of the policy 

The objective of this Policy is to ensure that there are minimal cash transactions. Pre-paid cards or out of pocket 

expenses is the expected method for all non-supplier costs and where in exceptional circumstances cash is 

required, it is fully accounted for. 

Cash 

Human Appeal (HA) maintains minimal cash on-site and is intended for incidental expenditure. Human Appeal will 

NOT issue cash to employees, volunteers, contractors or trustees. All are expected to book travel and hotels via 

the Procurement function; any other expenditure to be incurred using the pre-paid card or as out of pocket 

expenses to claimed by the financial system. 

Requesting Pre-Paid Card Top-Up 

Individuals need to complete a top up request form which needs to be approved by a line manager. Top up request form can be 

obtained from finance. 

Pre-Paid Process 

Business expenses (including procurement of assets) to be paid through pre-paid cards or the company credit card. 

However, in certain circumstances, HA recognises that employees may need cash advances (e.g. overseas business 

trips requiring payment of cash expenses such as taxi’s, hotel accommodation). Requests for such cash advances 

http://www.oanda.com/
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must be done by completing a Cash Advance form that must be approved by their line manager prior to submission 

to Finance. 

Cash advances must be utilised wholly and exclusively for HA’s business activity. Cash advances are only granted to HA 

employees; HA will not provide cash advances to contractors, consultants or any other category of person engaged 

with HA, as these individuals are required to claim expenses where costs have been incurred for HA in line with their 

contractual arrangement with HA. 

Requests for cash advances must follow business best practice; requesters must provide three day’s advance 

notice prior to collecting cash from Finance. 

Collecting Cash 

All cash collected from Finance shall be signed for by the employee. The person signing for the cash advance is 

responsible for ensuring cash and receipts are returned immediately after the event or travel etc. 

Returning Cash and Providing Receipts 

A cash advance will be recorded by Finance as a liability against the employee due to HA in its total amount, until the 

cash advance has been settled in the form of a travel report with valid and appropriate receipts and any balance 

returned to HA Finance. 

Each employee will be allowed to have only one (1) outstanding cash advance. No further cash advances may be 

issued to that employee, or another person in the same department for a similar purpose, unless the previous cash 

advance has been settled. 

All employee expense advances must be settled “within a reasonable period of time.” This reasonable period of time 

means within ten (10) days from returning from overseas visit with travel reports being submitted within five (5) days. 

If an employee does not submit the accounting for the advance and related expenses, and does not return any 

excess cash, HA maybe required to report the total cash advance as taxable income to the HMRC (Her Majesty’s 

Revenue & Customs). 

All travel reports must be submitted utilising the standard travel report format issued by Finance. 

Balances to be settled within 10 working days of return from overseas visit with travel reports being submitted 

within 5 days on return. 

Donations and Other Income 

All cash received shall be recorded in the Donor Management System and banked and under no circumstances 

can this cash be used for any type of expenditure. 
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Section 4: Accounts Payable 

 

Policy 

It is HA’s policy to record and pay only valid and authorised invoices, which represent legitimate organisational 

obligations. Accounting procedures are implemented to ensure the accuracy of amounts, coding of general ledger 

accounts, appropriate authorisation and timing of payments. The finance function is the sole area responsible for 

releasing payments. 

All amounts paid should be based on approved and valid supplier invoices, supported by a valid/current PO and 

evidenced by receipt of goods and/or services. 

Copied or resubmitted invoices shall be investigated and resolved in order to avoid duplicate payments. Payments 

shall be made from supplier invoices and not from supplier statements. Proper documentation shall be maintained 

to support statutory audit and regulatory requirements pertaining to paid supplier invoices.  

Payments are to be made in accordance with terms stated in the supplier payment arrangements. Requests to 

accelerate or delay payments require the approval of the Finance Manager. 

It is HA’s policy that all expenses should be captured to the greatest degree practical in the period that they are 

incurred. 
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Those amounts pertaining to invoices not processed by Accounts Payable for which an obligation exists within the 

accounting period must be accrued in accordance with the Accrual policy.  

Procedure Supplier Master Data 

Supplier master data may be set up and maintained only by authorised employee(s) assigned the responsibility. A 

supervisor is responsible for reviewing and recording all changes to the master supplier database. There must be 

appropriate separation of duties between those who have access to supplier master data and those who are 

involved with procuring, receiving or processing payments. The finance department is responsible for reviewing 

supplier activity reports in order to mitigate the risk of unauthorised or inaccurate supplier additions or editing.  

Expected Controls; 

¶ Only authorised suppliers shall be entered to the Accounts Payable ledger. 

¶ Authorisation shall be by senior finance person. 

¶ References shall be obtained for the supplier prior to set up onto the accounts payable ledger. 

¶ Each supplier shall be allocated a reference number for ease of identification. 

¶ Invoices from unauthorised suppliers shall require additional scrutiny and authorisation by finance. 

¶ Self-employed individuals shall be required to provide evidence of self-employed status. 

¶ Inactive suppliers shall be reviewed and deleted from the Accounts Payable Ledger. 

Authorised Purchases 

HA shall ensure that only necessary and authorised purchases are made, and expenditure is within approved 

budgets. 

Expected Controls; 

¶ The recognised budget holder has authorised the PO. This individual shall be familiar with project, 

campaign, department etc. that the expenditure invoice(s) relate to, 

¶ The recognised budget holder shall only approve according to the documented authority levels established, 

¶ The recognised budget holder shall ensure expenditure is within the approved authorised budget. 

 

Invoice Processing 

Invoices from suppliers shall be treated as legal documents representing a commitment to pay suppliers who have 

delivered a product or rendered a service to HA. 

Prior to the processing of invoices, the appropriate documentation must be attached with the authorised 

signatures. 

Prior to payment the following should be checked and not be limited to; 

¶ Invoices are for actual products or services received, 

¶ The invoice(s) are originals, if duplicate this should be verified, 

¶ Accounts Payable individual(s) should ensure that they vigilant to duplicate invoices being presented and 

avoid re-processing. 

Supplier invoices should include and not be limited to the following information; 

¶ Supplier name, address, contact, supplier reference number, sipping terms and payment terms 

¶ Supplier information regarding where/how payment should be made (e.g. address, reference number) 

¶ Company reference information such as PO number, contact name, address, or location where products 

and/or services are delivered 
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¶ For products and goods related invoices, a list of products by part number or other line item reference, 

including quantity, unit price, discounts and value-added or other sales taxes 

¶ For fixed-price service contracts, a list of services provided by task 

¶ For variable price service contracts (e.g. consulting agreements and those quoted as time and materials) 

the following must be provided; 

o A list of services provided by task 

o For time related charges; hours worked, role or level of consultant providing the service and rate 

per hour 

o For materials related charges; detailed list for materials and/or expenses 

o For parts and products; detailed list of parts and products 

¶ For expenses related charges include a level of detail to support the supplier’s invoiced amount (i.e. larger-

monetary valued items require greater detail). Examples; 

o Travel expenses must include dates, individuals’ names, location, reason for travel and other travel 

details 

o Subcontractor expenses must include details to support hours worked and/or materials used 

Receipt of Invoices 

All supplier invoices must be directly received into the finance department and the Accounts Payable individual(s) 

for processing. The Accounts Payable individual(s) shall confirm with the department receiving the products or 

services for comparison, who should ensure prior to payment, the invoice(s) reflect POs and contracts. 

Expected Controls; 

¶ All invoices received by HA shall be recorded onto the Accounts Payable ledger as soon as they are received, 

¶ All invoices shall be recorded and allocated a reference for ease of identification, 

¶ All invoices shall be confirmed to have received authorisation from the department or function incurring 

the expenditure, 

¶ The Accounts Payable individual(s) shall monitor all unpaid invoices that exceed payment terms each 

month, 

¶ Only those invoices due shall be selected for each payment run, 

¶ Supplier statements shall be reconciled monthly, 

¶ Accounts Payable ledger shall be reconciled monthly, 

¶ Reconciliations shall be checked and counter-signed by the supervisor. 

A Three-Way Match 

A three-way match, or in some circumstances a two-way match shall be performed before an invoice is approved 

for payment. A three-way match includes matching the PO to the receipt confirmation and then to the supplier’s 

invoice. Receipt confirmation validates the details of the goods and/or services received e.g. description and 

quantity of goods or services acquired and unit price details to sum to the amount payable. All information i.e. 

supplier name, address, description, quantity of goods or service and amount to be paid must be in agreement 

before the payment is approved for processing. 

A three-way match may not be appropriate for some type of invoices, in which case a two-way match is acceptable 

as long as authorised signers as identified by the Delegation of Authority and the Procurement policy & procedures 

approve the PO or supplier invoice. A two-way match is between the PO and the supplier’s invoice or company 

approval and confirmation of the receipt of goods or services and a supplier’s invoice. If the supplier’s invoice is not 

available, then a purchase order and supporting documentation must be submitted. 



 24 

Travel reports and expense claims completed in accordance with the Travel and Expense procedures are processed 

by and paid through accounts payable function. 

Invoices received that do not meet the above objectives or are otherwise incomplete and must be returned to the 

originating department or to the supplier for the outstanding issue to be resolved. The accounts payable function 

should maintain a log of these rejected invoices and monitor responses for timely resolution.  

Returns to Suppliers 

Employees who return purchases directly or who request a service or charge-back adjustment from the supplier 

must notify the accounts payable function immediately. Accounts payable should pursue all credits after all 

supporting documentation is received from the employee or the supplier. 

Supporting documentation must include and is not limited to; reference to the original PO number, the reason and 

description of the discrepancy where the company is seeking retribution, calculation in support of the amount being 

claimed and contact information.  

Payment Processing 

Where applicable and as appropriate supplier discounts should be taken. The value of the supplier discount should 

be based on relative materiality of the invoice and the cost of monies to HA. In addition, and as appropriate, the 

charity’s procurement representative may negotiate more favourable payment terms and longer supplier payment 

terms may be established.  

Accounts payable is responsible for all records forwarded to the department for processing as well as analysis and 

reports produced as part of the accounts payable sub ledger. 

Payments  

Under no circumstances should payments for suppliers be made payable to employees. 

All invoices must have the required authorisation before they are processed for payment. Note that the individual 

requesting payment (raising the payment request) cannot at the same time approve the payment request. 

A list of personnel identifying individuals that can approve payment requests which have been approved by the 

Leadership team, should be documented at each office. 

Invoices can only be paid from the relevant bank account in the form of; cheques, bank transfer, Bank Automated 

Cash Service (BACS) or Direct Debit (DD), and must be supported by original documentation such as; 

¶ Payment Request Form, 

¶ Purchase Order, 

¶ Original Invoices, 

¶ Other original supporting documentation.  

For all payments the following records shall be maintained; 

¶ Date of the payment request (it should be current), 

¶ The names of the requestor, 

¶ The Payee, 

¶ All the approval levels, 

¶ The details of the purchase and the amount, 

¶ Copy of the online payment confirmation or cheque number. 
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The above aspects should be checked by the signatories for completeness. Similarly, approval levels should be 

checked for appropriate authority. 

The most senior signatory should be the last to approve. 

All cheque payments should be in the name of the supplier where possible and all cheques should be marked ά!κ/ 

tŀȅŜŜ hƴƭȅέ 

Expected Controls; 

¶ Prior to payment the invoice shall be checked by the budget holder to verify the item or service has been 

received and meets the needs of HA, 

¶ This confirmation shall be in writing, 

¶ The Finance Supervisor shall review the payment batch, 

¶ The Finance department shall hold a list of authorised signatories and the value up to which they are able 

to authorise payments, 

¶ Accounts payable individual(s) shall only make payments on original documentation (any photocopied, 

faxed documentation shall be scrutinised, queried and challenged), 

¶ Cheque payments shall require two signatories, 

¶ No cheque shall be made out to “cash” other than for limited petty cash utilisation.  

Cheque Books 

Finance is responsible for the accounting of all cheques prepared and issued through the Accounts Payable 

individual(s) and the security of the cheque books. This includes the related storage and use of electronic signature 

cards and devices. Only authorised finance employees have access to the cheque books. 

HA absolutely and completely prohibits the signing of blank cheques. 

Segregate cheque signing duties. The cheque signer will not be responsible for or have access to any other 

accounting/finance activities. 

Electronic Payments (BACS, CHAPS etc.)   

Instead of cheques, electronic payments should be utilised. Requests for electronic transfers to third parties and for 

supplier payments must be processed through accounts payable in accordance with the above. 

For electronic payments two authorised signatories are required to approve the payment.  

No payment to suppliers should be made in cash. For cash transactions refer to the Petty Cash policy & procedures. 

Expected Controls; 

¶ All electronic payment requests shall be accompanied by appropriate bank details, 

¶ The schedule for payment shall be reviewed by the Finance Supervisor prior to the bank authorised 

signatories, 

¶ The review shall include scrutiny of the original invoices and/or payment records, 

¶ The review shall be evidenced by the reviewer initiating/signing on the original invoice, 

¶ Passwords generated for electronic payments shall be kept secure at all times. 

Credit, Charge Card Payments 

Use of credit card, charge cards for payments shall be in accordance with the Credit, Charge Card policy and only 

be authorised credit, charge card assigned individual(s).  
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Expenditure on credit, charge cards should not be restricted to expenditure related to travel and entertainment of 

guests, these should only on rare occasions be utilised for regular office expenditure.   

Individual(s) assigned credit, charge cards shall ensure that all invoices and receipts relating to all expenditure is 

provided to finance. Finance shall reconcile on a monthly basis all supporting documentations to the credit, charge 

cards statements. 

Stamp Invoice “PAID”  

After payment the PO and the invoice should be adequately marked to prevent reprocessing. (Defined: Stamped 

“PAID”) 

Direct Debits 

Direct Debit set-up and oversight shall be regularly reviewed, and the following steps shall be taken; 

¶ Prior to the set-up of the direct debit, a clear case shall be established for clear financial or resource savings 

for HA, 

¶ Direct debit payments shall only be used for items or services which are required to be paid on a regular 

basis, 

¶ A schedule for direct debit payments shall be held and reviewed, 

¶ Where the direct debit is not a fixed amount, the schedule shall indicate the minimum and maximum 

payment for each direct debit, 

¶ Finance personnel shall review the direct debit payments monthly as part of the bank reconciliations 

process, 

¶ All direct debit payments shall be reviewed and re-authorised each year. 

Records Retention 

Accounts payable-related documentation, including support for the authorised payment and proof of payment, 

must be retained in accordance with agreed methodology, organised in an orderly manner and available to support 

tax, audit and/or other statutory requirements. 

A register should be maintained of all invoices and bills received. They should be stamped with the date received. 

File by due date. The Accounts Payable individual(s) must file unpaid supplier invoices by due date to ensure that 

each invoice is paid on the designated date. The authority levels and authorised signatories should be documented 

and retained on record. 

Areas of Responsibility; 

¶ Finance employees should apply a standard naming convention to create supplier names in the supplier 

master file, 

¶ Individuals within accounts payable must be independent of the purchasing and receiving function, as well 

as control of the supplier master data. Situations arising where there may be an overlap of duties require 

additional review and mitigating controls to ensure integrity of the accounts payable process, 

¶ The Accounts Payable individual(s) will compare the pricing and quantitates listed on each supplier invoice 

to the quantities actually received and the price originally agreed to, 

¶ The Accounts Payable individual(s) shall review an aging analysis to ensure timely accurate payment to 

supplier. The accounts payable sub ledger is reconciled to the general ledger control account monthly, 

¶ All outstanding(past-due) invoices must be investigated and resolved in a timely manner by the appropriate 

individual, 
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¶ Once verification for the goods or services received has been documented, only then authorised employees 

(i.e. recognised budget holder) should release the invoice for payment, 

¶ When paying from a copy of a supplier invoice the additional approval of the Finance Manager or designated 

individual must be obtained prior to payment, 

¶ Invoices must not be approved by administrative staff on behalf of the manger who signed the PO. 

¶ All appropriate documentation supporting accounts payable and supplier payments must be retained and 

organised in an orderly manner and available to support tax, audit and/or any other statutory requirements, 

¶ Monthly reconciliations should be performed of the accounts payable sub-ledger to the general ledger. 

These reconciliations should be reviewed by the supervisor or manager and should be signed off on a 

monthly basis, 

¶ All HA offices should maintain adequate detailed documentation of additions, changes or deletion to the 

supplier mater file/records, 

¶ Cash disbursements for unrecorded liabilities and routine expenses e.g. rent should be vouchered prior to 

payments, 

¶ There should be an active supervisory review of all accounts payable activity, 

¶ All signature templates, cheque books, blank cheques and related equipment should be kept in an absolute 

secured area. 

Segregation of Duties 

HA should ensure where possible that the following functions are performed by separate individuals, 

¶ The approval of the purchase order, 

¶ Receiving the ordered supplies/materials, 

¶ Approval of the invoices for payment, 

¶ Preparer of cheques for payment, 

¶ Review and reconcile the financial records. 

Small offices that do not always have sufficient employees for work to be separated, should involve other employees 

(non-finance) for example, reviewing payments when an outside member of staff visits, to make surprise 

inspections. In addition; 

¶ Monthly reconciliations of the ledger which should be reviewed and signed off by the Finance Supervisor, 

¶ A log within the system should be maintained that details all cheques issued, 

¶ For cash payments a register should be maintained that details cash payments made, 

¶ All payments should be referenced to the original documentation. 

All registers and reconciliations should be kept up-to-date at all times therefore being readily available for review 

by visits from other offices.   

Expected Expenditure and Supplier Controls 

Control Objectives Expected Controls 

Expenditure processes are clearly defined, 

communicated and reflect HA guidance 

¶ Documented policies and procedures in place 

¶ Roles and responsibilities are defined 

Selection of suppliers  

Processes for selecting all suppliers are well defined ¶ Expenditure policies and procedures contain 

adequate guidelines for selection of suppliers, 

including tendering processes. Guidelines are 
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consistent with HA policy and provide 

direction, either financially or by reference to 

expenditure type, as to which type of selection 

process is appropriate 

Supply/service contracts are held with all suppliers and 

are appropriately authorised and entered into at arm’s 

length 

¶ Master supply/service contracts are held for 

suppliers. Contracts are documented and 

readily available. 

¶ Purchasing management follows appropriate 

procedures to ensure that supply/service 

contracts are with “arm’s length” entities and 

without apparent or actual conflicts of interest 

or ownership 

Partners  

Partner spend is in accordance with HA contractual 

agreement 

¶ Spend incurred through Partners is monitored 

on a regular basis 

¶ Partner systems and spend is audited as per the 

contractual agreement 

¶ Exceptions to contracts are followed up 

Purchasing  

All purchases are valid and appropriately authorised ¶ All purchases are supported by a completed PO 

¶ PO clearly identifies each significant donor 

separately where multiple donors are funding 

the purchase 

¶ PO is approved in accordance with the 

country’s formal authority limits 

¶ Tendering process (three quotes) is initiated 

when expenditure is above a certain threshold 

¶ Expenditure to date is monitored against 

budget and variances are investigated by 

budget holders and explanations recorded 

Goods Received and Accounts Payable  

All amounts posted to accounts payable represent valid 

goods or services received 

¶ Goods/ services received are matched against 

the relevant PO and invoice (three-way match) 

¶ Appropriate action taken on un-matched 

invoices 

¶ Where applicable, credit notes are requested 

and followed up in a timely manner 

Amounts posted to accounts payable are recorded in 

the proper accounting period 

¶ Supplier invoices, goods received, and credit 

notes received at, before, or after the end of 

the accounting period are scrutinised and 

reconciled to ensure complete accounting 

periods 

¶ Monthly reconciliation of the purchase ledger 

to the general ledger is undertaken and is 

subject to independent review  
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Payments  

All payments are valid, authorised, paid to appropriate 

suppliers and recorded in the appropriate period 

¶ Payments are made only against approved 

processed invoices by suppliers. Invoices and 

supporting documentation are marked 

appropriately and filed once payment is made 

to prevent reuse 

¶ There is adequate segregation of duties 

between staff ordering and receipting goods 

and staff making payments 

¶ There is management review of exceptions 

based on predetermined parameters e.g. 

payments over x amount, payments to new 

suppliers, urgent and manual payments 

¶ Reviews are performed and appropriate 

approvals obtained for suppliers requiring pre-

payments. Pre-payments are recorded against 

the specific suppliers concerned 

¶ All invoices should be paid through the bank 

Adequate control is maintained over payment related 

assets 

¶ Cheques and other methods of payment are 

sequentially pre-numbered, the sequence of 

processed items is accounted for and the 

spoiled cheques are voided to prevent reuse 

and filed for subsequent inspection 

¶ Cash and cheque stock are held securely and is 

accessible only to specific authorised personnel 

¶ Petty cash vouchers are issued for all cash 

taken for purchases 

¶ Authorisation levels for signing cheques and 

executing electronic funds transfers are 

documented within local policies and are 

specified within the bank mandates 

¶ Individuals who sign cheques and execute 

electronic fund transfers are authorised to do 

so 

Regulations relating to withholding taxes are adhered 

to 

¶ Appropriate registration is sought, and returns 

are up to date 

¶ Adequate processes exist to ensure 

withholding tax liabilities are correct 

Supplier/Supplier Master file  

All changes to product/ supplier master file are valid, 

complete and accurately input in a timely manner. 

Product/supplier master file data remains accurate and 

access to the master files is restricted to authorised 

personnel 

¶ Amendments to the supplier’s master file are 

subject to appropriate control and 

authorisation 

¶ Requests to change the product/ supplier 

master file are documented on standard forms 

accompanied by appropriate supporting 
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documentation e.g. contracts, letters from 

suppliers requesting changes to bank details or 

address 

¶ All change requests are reviewed for validity 

and authorised by appropriate individuals 

¶ Adequate segregation of duties is maintained 

between supplier selection, approval and 

management functions. A periodic review of 

user’s rights is performed for appropriateness 

and any necessary changes to access rights are 

performed on a timely manner   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 5: Credit Cards and Pre-paid Cards 

 

HA makes credit cards available to employees under the regulations stated in this charity credit card policy. This 

policy is intended to provide guidance and assistance in using credit/pre-paid cards. 

Obtaining Cards & Eligibility 

¶ A credit/pre-paid card is only issued to an employee to facilitate the carrying out of HA’s business. The 

leadership team will identify which employees can be considered for a credit card or pre-paid card. Requests 

will be collated by the finance department and the business case for each card will be reviewed by the Head 

of Finance. The signing of this agreement and the issuing of the card is to be regarded as the formal 

delegation of authority that governs the use of the credit cards to execute credit card purchases. All 

decisions to source or obtain credit/pre-paid cards must be signed by the Head of Finance. No other 

department has the right to source or obtain credit/pre-paid cards. 

¶ Credit/pre-paid cards will only be issued to specific individuals (hereafter referred to as Cardholders). 

¶ HA credit/pre-paid cards will be regulated by the finance department. All statements invoices and receipts 

must be submitted to the department, by entering the expense in the expense template by the cardholders 

as an employee’s expense report for credit card transactions. The paper receipts should be attached to the 

printed expense entry and passed to the finance department. 

¶ No other department other than finance has the authority to maintain records related to credit/pre0paid 

cards in the name of HA. 
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¶ The cardholder agrees to comply with all applicable policies and procedures alongside this cardholder 

agreement. 

¶  Each credit card bears the cardholders name but is actually issued to HA which is responsible for making 

payment to the bank via direct debit. Cardholders are responsible for ensuring proper use of the card. 

¶ The credit/pre-paid card remains property of the bank. It may not be transferred or assigned to anyone 

other than the designated cardholder and should not be used for non-HA business.  

¶ The main cardholder is accountable for the activity (purchases) on the card. The bank or HA may suspend 

or cancel cardholder privileges at any time for any reason. The cardholder will immediately surrender the 

credit card upon request to HA or any authorised agent of the bank. 

¶ Cards issued to a department and used by more than one member of staff will have a named card holder 

who is responsible for ensuring the card is used correctly by all sub-users. 

¶ Financial limits for credit cards must be agreed by the leadership team as recommended by the Head of 

Finance or equivalent. Applicable limits will in practice be assessed by the Head of Finance or equivalent. 

¶ Limits need to be regularly monitored by the cardholder as the credit card company will refuse any 

purchases which exceed the agreed limit. 

¶ In the event of a need to increase the card limit temporarily the card holder must place a request to the 

Head of Finance explaining the circumstances. 

¶ Cardholders must confirm receipt of new cards within seven days of receipt. Cardholders should verify to 

finance that the credit card is in their possession at least monthly when settling their account. 

¶ The cardholder will be liable for any expenditure incurred using the card that has not followed accepted 

procedures. 

Use of Cards  

¶ Cardholders should only spend funds from appropriate budgets (namely budgets for which they have 

delegated authority to approve transactions after filing out a PO form). Budgets detailing all approved 

expenditure and delegated authority will be maintained by the finance department and made available on 

request. The finance department will maintain a schedule showing the authorisation hierarchy or list of 

users for all HA credit cards. 

¶ If funds are to be expensed from another account for which the cardholder does not have delegated 

authority, then prior to approval should be obtained by email or by an authorised signatory to that account 

on a purchase order. 

¶ It remains the responsibility of the cardholder to check that the expenditure is appropriate and complies 

with the HA credit/pre-paid card policy prior to the purchase of any goods or services. A finance department 

member may assist with the management and use of the credit card, but this does not reduce or mitigate 

the responsibility of the cardholder to ensure the appropriateness of all transactions and should not be 

regarded as any form of approval for the cardholder’s use of the card. 

¶ The cardholder must not authorise any automatic deductions (direct debits) or arrange for any regular 

payment to be made from a credit card. 

¶ Credit cards should not be used to obtain goods/services which can be procured via the suppliers who HA 

has an ongoing established trading relationship with. Where more competitive rates are sourced from 

alternative suppliers, the cardholder must produce a cheaper quote from the new supplier with the same 

terms and conditions. Procurement should be notified to investigate why our regular suppliers were unable 

to offer more competitive terms. 

¶ If goods are not received or are faulty and agreement cannot be made with the supplier for a refund, then 

the corporate credit card provider should be contacted promptly via the finance department. The 
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cardholder should never lend or share the credit card or account number apart from authorised users. IF 

any items are disputed the credit card company should be contacted immediately and the item placed in 

dispute by the cardholder. If receipts/invoices are lost a note should be made in the transaction log to this 

effect. 

¶ Receipts of invoices must be obtained to support every item of expenditure and if the purchase contains 

any changes for VTA, a proper VAT receipt or invoice should be obtained. Cardholders are required to keep 

and provide an auditable record of documentation in support of all transactions and purchases. Original tax 

invoices will be checked against the reconciliation statement and retained by the finance department. 

¶ Each cardholder must adhere to good practice by maintain a transaction log of each purchase as it is made. 

The log would then be used in the verification of the statement when it is received. If there is an item on 

the transaction log that does not appear on the monthly statement, it should be crossed off the log and 

transferred onto the Transaction Log for the following month as it should appear on your next statement. 

This often happens when transactions are made close to the date that your statement is produced. A brief 

note should be added to the transaction log to explain purchases where the reason is not apparent. The 

transaction log must be presented to the line manager or deputy every month for their review and signature 

and then passed to the finance department promptly. Timely reconciliation of the credit card is the 

responsibility of the finance department but is subject to all supporting paperwork being provided by the 

cardholder. Failure to comply may result in the removal of credit card privileges. 

¶ The monthly statement is received by the finance department, reviewed and then checked by the credit 

card holder ensuring all expenses are entered onto the enterprise portal and the paper receipts should be 

attached to the printed expense entry and passed to the finance department. Cardholders can regularly 

check their statements online at the card issuer’s website. 

¶ The finance department should ensure receipts and invoices must be cross checked to individual 

transactions on the statement and security attached to the credit card statement with the transaction log. 

The finance department is responsible for checking and approving reconciled credit card statements. 

¶ Internal Audit shall from time to time undertake checks of individual credit cards to ensure compliance with 

HA Credit/Pre-Paid card policy. All statements and logs of transactions and other information must be made 

available when requested. 

¶ Transactions and supporting documents must be kept by the finance department for a period of seven years 

or for the statutory period to keep records for tax purposes if longer, plus the current financial year in case 

they are needed for an audit.  

Restrictions 

¶ Credit cards must not be used to obtain cash from a cash dispenser or to guarantee any cheque or obtain 

cheque encashment. Only pre-paid cards may be used for this purpose. 

¶ The purchase of accommodation or rail/airline tickets is normally made via HA standard procurement 

arrangements. Procurement of such services by credit card can be made while on duty overseas or in 

exceptional circumstances when the normal procurement process could not be followed. 

¶ Only secure sites should be used to make purchases via the internet (for example the site shows the padlock 

symbol or is another secure pay site). If employees are in any doubt whether it is a secure site, they should 

not make a purchase. 

¶ Credit cards must not be used for any non-HA business or personal expenses. In the event of any derogation 

of this, the cardholder will be expected to reimburse HA for these items and must obtain an official HA 

receipt as confirmation from the finance department. There may also be disciplinary consequences if 

deemed serious enough. 
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¶ Failure to reimburse HA within one month of the credit card statement will result in the amount being 

deducted from the employee’s salary payment without further notification. 

¶ Card insurance and/or subscriptions for card protection services must not be purchased by individual users. 

Such services will be considered by the finance department. 

¶ No personal benefit including the use of points, loyalty bonuses or cash backs can be derived from the use 

of the card. 

Compliance with Policy, Violations and Consequences  

¶ Employee violations to this agreement or to any policy regarding the purchase of goods or services will be 

investigated and may result in either one or more of the following actions; written warning, revocation of 

credit card privileges, cancellation of delegation of purchasing authority, disciplinary action, termination 

and/or criminal prosecution.  

¶ In the first instance, any violation will be reported by the finance department to the relevant Line Manager 

and Director. In the case of suspected fraudulent transactions, they will also follow the Anti-Fraud policy. 

Each party will be responsible to pursue investigations within their remit and report them accordingly to 

their Line Mangers. 

¶ Credit card violations include but are not limited to all prohibitions and failure to comply with obligations 

as detailed in this policy as well as any general breach of HA Finance Manual.  

Security    

¶ Every effort must be made to keep the card secure at all times and either held personally or stored in a 

locked drawer or filing cabinet. These must be kept secured. 

¶ PIN numbers must be kept secure and not disclosed to anyone else. Users should refer transactions to main 

cardholders where pin numbers are required to complete transactions. 

¶ The credit card company (card provider) and the Head of Finance must be notified immediately if the card 

is lost, stolen or fraudulent use is suspected. 

¶ The cardholder will surrender the card to the Finance Director or his representatives when the cardholder 

leaves the employment of HA or if circumstances change so that a card is no longer required. When the 

expiration date is passed and/or after receiving a new credit card the old credit card needs to be destroyed 

and disposed of.  

Finance Department Responsibilities 

The finance department is responsible for; 

¶ Reviewing all credit card requests and making recommendations to the Leadership Team that cover limits 

and the validity of a business case for the use of the cards, 

¶ Ensuring that these procedures are in place for all cards before employees are given card privileges, 

¶ Timely reconciliation, appropriate record keeping and handling these administrative duties, 

¶ Knowing the credit card limitations and restrictions and informing users, 

¶ Developing and implementing internal procedures that govern use of the credit cards, 

¶ Answering cardholder questions about card use, 

¶ Monitoring card usage to ensure that finance policies and procedures are being followed, 

¶ Reporting credit card misuse to the appropriate departments, 

¶ Communicating with the Leadership Team as represented by the CEO when card cancellations are required. 

 

Declaration: 
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I have read, understood and agree to abide by the policy and guidance in relation to the credit/pre-paid card 

that has been issued to me. 

 

Cardholders Name: 

 

Position: 

 

Signature:  

 

Procedures 

Purchases made using a credit card should be made by the person holding the card and if this card is used by another 

user then it should be with the full knowledge of the card holder. The expense will be entered via expense template 

as an employee’s expense report for credit card transaction. The paper receipts should be attached to the printed 

entry and passed to finance in the usual way. 

Finance will check and post this journal creating a liability on the employee vendor credit card account.  

Credit Card Expense Entry ς via Invoice Journal 

Dr Costs 

Cr Employee Vendor Credit Card Account (Accounts Payable Ledger) 

When the credit card statement arrives for that employee, finance will reconcile all the purchases on the statement 

with each vendor credit card account and expense report receipts. Finance will attach the receipts received from 

the employee to the credit card statement. Finance will use a general journal to post the liability to the credit card 

company and reduce the liability on the employee vendor credit card account.  

Exceptional items paid for via company credit/pre-paid card 

Exceptionally a single charity credit card may be used to pay for items purchased that are not directly related to 

the employee holding the credit card. It is recommended that this must be done with the employee’s full 

knowledge and all receipts must be given to the employee. Most commonly these are internet purchases.  

The procedure is that the employee (who does not hold a credit card) enters a purchase requisition and has this 

approved creating a purchase order. When paying with a credit card (either via internet or in shop). The purchaser 

must give the invoice to finance and a copy of the invoice to the credit card holder. 

Finance must post the purchase invoice in the normal way. 

IMMEDIATELY, when posting the invoice, the credit card payment must be posted, removing the vendor liability. 

This ensures that the vendor cannot be paid twice. Method of payments setup needs to be configured to reflect 

this process.  

When the credit card holder enters their next credit card expenses, costs incurred by other people are posted to a 

particular expense category – costs incurred by other staff. This expense category is mapped to the credit card 

used by other staff members account. 

Areas of Responsibility 

The cardholder is responsible for all purchases made on these cards and all purchases must be entered by the 

card holder via expense template and all receipts attached to the expense report. 
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Section 6: Payroll and Salary Expense 

This policy applies to all Human Appeal locations. This policy applies to hourly and salary employees for 

standard wages, bonuses, and other compensation. 

Policy 

It is HA’s policy to pay employees accurately, on a timely basis, and in compliance with all applicable laws 

and regulations of the jurisdictions where HA conducts business. 

HA pays employees according to their employment contracts and calculates and records payroll 

(including payroll deductions) accurately and completely in the period the payroll/ salary expense is 

incurred. 

Obligations: 

HA has the obligation to operate its payroll based on the HMRC and Pensions regulations and to make 

sure all the legislation, polices and compliances are met. 

Procedure 

Wages and salaries are determined based on competitive comparisons, industry standards and local 

economic indicators. Payroll and salary baselines are generally established for the beginning of each tax 

year (April); however, changes may be initiated and approved during the year. 

Salary expenses are planned as part of the annual planning and budgeting process. 
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Each employee provides information and direction for their discretionary withholding items. This 

information is retained and controlled within designated Human Resources (HR)/Payroll systems. HR 

must approve all changes to an individual’s pay rate information and maintains control over employee 

master data. 

Salaried and Hourly paid employees are paid once on the last day of the month (unless dictated by local 

regulations) and receive their annual salary ratably over the year, based on 12 payroll checks per year. 

Salary expense as reported within HA’s reporting records is comprised of gross amounts paid to 

employees as well as the employers’ portion for all taxes and benefits. 

HA’s payroll cycle shall be consistent with its business needs and operations. Salary and Payroll 

expense accruals must be matched with the period the expense is incurred. If the last payroll run does not 

coincide with the last day of the month, a month-end accrual must be calculated, posted, and then 

reversed in the following accounting period. 

For all employees, payroll is generated based on the information submitted through employment 

contracts and time reporting systems. The supervisor or manager approves the time. The Payroll 

function processes the data and approves it for submission to the authorized bank authorisers. 

The related administration and recording of the transaction (i.e., establishing the expense and liability) for 

the applicable taxes must be performed. Payroll shall not process any changes to payroll or salary 

expenses until receipt of Change Request authorized by Human Resources (HR) is received for changes 

to employee status, including hiring, promotions, changes to departments or job positions pay status, 

termination, or other change in employment. A change in status must be approved by an HR manager 

(after authorisation for the role by the CEO and Deputy CEO), who then forwards it to the Payroll 

function. 

Payroll policy on Employees working overseas 

 

Employees in the United Kingdom posted to any other country can remain liable for UK National 

Insurance Contribution’s for the first 52 weeks of their period abroad, therefore, based on the 

information provided below it is advisable to complete a P85 for the employee, and keep them on the 

company’s PAYE. 

 

An employee will be treated as resident for a tax year if 

 

 they are in the United Kingdom for 183 days (6.1 months) or more in the tax year, or 

 they visit the United Kingdom regularly and your visits average 91 days (3 months) or more a 

tax year over a period not exceeding 4 years, or 

 they come to the UK for a purpose that will mean they are in the UK for at least two years. 

 

However, each employee’s residence position depends on their own personal circumstances, and any 

excess taxes paid whilst the employee was non-resident can be reclaimed, therefore HR shall impart 

the following HMRC guidance to all employees that are to be posted to any other country: 

 

If you leave the UK to work full-time abroad under a contract of employment, you are treated as not resident and not 

ordinarily resident if you meet all the following conditions 

 



 37 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Areas of Responsibility 

 

Employees are responsible for reviewing and verifying their pay remittance information and updating 

their personal information as necessary. 

HR is responsible for all employee-specific personal, salary, wage, and withholding information for 

retention within the employee’s file. The employee’s Supervisor or Department manager must use the 

standard Change of Status form provided by 

HR for requesting changes to the employee’s master data and/or payroll information. 

 

The Payroll function reconciles changes in employee status to the master control report and the 

payroll register monthly. Differences are investigated and resolved. 

The Payroll function posts the journal to HA accounting system for month/year end purpose and reconciles 

against the bank payment. 

 

The Payroll function produces a monthly exception report highlighting changes to starters, leavers, adjustments 

to salary or wages. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Payroll Controls 
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1. All new starters shall be verified by HR prior to processing request is made to Payroll. 

2. Only authorised managers in conjunction with the Head of HROD involvement can authorise 

changes to an employeesô salary, bank details or other request changes. 

3. Payroll shall only action changes subject to valid, signed forms by authorised persons. 

4. The Payroll function shall be informed immediately of an employeeôs resignation or dismissal 

to safeguard against overpayment. 

5. The payroll function shall be informed immediately of any deductions to made to the 

employeeôs final payment e.g. repayment of a loan 

6. Monthly check shall be performed by senior authorised persons to verify the payroll prior to 

the payment being made. 

7. Annual reconciliation between payroll and HR records shall be conducted to confirm only bona 

fide employees are included on the payroll and they are correctly graded. 
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Pension Controls 

 
1. Contributions shall be paid promptly to the pension provider after deduction from the 

employeeôs salary/wage. 

2. Contributions paid to the pension provider shall be in accordance with their schedule of 

payments. 

3. The pension contribution percentage should only be provided by HR due to the employment 

scales. 

4. Only authorised employees with the appropriate level of responsibility will add names of 

employees to the pension scheme. Payroll and the pension provider shall be informed 

immediately of an employeesô resignation or dismissal to safeguard against overpayment into 

that pension fund. 

5. HA has the obligation to automatically enroll all the staff to the pension scheme every new 

tax year by April. 

6. All the staff has the right to opt out of the pension scheme if they wonted too and for the HR 

to inform the pension provider. 

7. The employee is entitled to pension contribution fund if he/she opt out with the time frame. 

8. A full circulation shall be undertaken to confirm bona fide people are included in the scheme. 

9. HR procedures shall be in place to ensure HA is notified following the death of one its pensioners. 

10. All employee and employer contributions shall be checked for accuracy and authorised by those 

with the appropriate authority, 

11. On leaving HA employment, employees shall be given their options to leave contributions in the 

scheme or transfer to the new employerôs scheme or to a personal pension plan. 

12. At the point of retirement, the pension contribution shall be explained to the pensioner. 

13. Quarterly pension scheme reports shall be provided by the pension scheme provider. 
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Section 7: Balance Sheet Controls 

7a. Account Reconciliations 

 

It is HA’s policy to reconcile every balance sheet (B/S) account on a monthly basis in accordance with the 

Finance close schedule. These analyses and reconciliations are to be prepared and reviewed by the 

appropriate Finance personnel, with all analysis subject to internal review and external audit. 

 

Account reconciliations shall be forwarded for review and sign-off by the office’s respective Finance 

supervisor or designate. 

 

Underlying detail, in the form of a sub ledger or schedule, must support every B/S account balance, and 

such detail must be reconciled to the general ledger. Any un-reconciled differences must be 

investigated and resolved, with adjustments made in a timely manner prior to the end of the quarter. 

Upon completion of the investigation, any remaining unsupported balance shall be written off subject to 

written approval from the Head of Finance and/or CEO. 

7b. Accruals 

 

It is HA’s policy to accrue all known incurred expenses, and where the invoice has either not been 

received or processed through Accounts Payable or where the expense has not otherwise been 

recorded. 

 

Procedure             

 

Accruals must be prepared when HA would rationally pay to be relieved of a present obligation at the 

end of the reporting period. 

Accruals shall be recorded when: 

 

The expense has been incurred; that is, the product or service has been received on or before the last day 

of the month and has not yet been paid. Note: even though an expense may have originally been 

budgeted in the month, it does not qualify for accrual unless the product or service was actually 

received by HA. 

HA has assumed the rights of ownership (i.e. title) and obligation in accordance with the terms and 

conditions of the agreement. 

Accruals include but are not limited to: 

 

• Recurring and nonrecurring costs, expenses, or payments (e.g. rents, utilities). 

• Expenses or asset/Inventory purchases. 

• Goods and services received and waiting for approval before payment may be authorised. 

• Contracts or contingencies that involve possible future loss. 

 

The following additional factors must be considered when recording accruals: 
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Accruals shall represent the expense actually incurred, which may not necessarily match to the billing 

terms (eg, deposits or retainer). If payment is due prior to performance, the amount shall be 

accrued/recorded within Prepaid Expenses. 

Reasonably Estimated 

 

Accounting standards for assessing and estimating the amount to be accrued must be followed to ensure 

only valid and authorised expenses, which may be the lowest of: 

• The present value of the resources required to fulfil the obligation. 

• The amount that would be paid to cancel the obligation. 

• The amount that would have to be paid to transfer the obligation to a third party. 

 

Events that give rise to loss contingencies and that occur after the balance sheet date but before the 

financial statements are signed may require disclosure. 

Authorisation and Approval 

 

Accruals must be approved by the Finance Supervisor or equivalent. Each journal entry must have 

supporting documentation, including the reason for the accrual and methodology as to how it was 

calculated. 

For financial integrity and accuracy, documentation and records retention standards apply to all 

accrual journal entries. Documentation must include approved and appropriate backup to support 

the amount accrued. 

The accrual balance must be reconciled each month and must be reversed at the beginning of the 

following month. 

Areas of Responsibility 

 

The Finance controller/supervisor or equivalent is responsible for ensuring that all eligible expenses that 

have not been recorded via normal processing (e.g., Accounts Payable) are accrued. 

All balance sheet account balances are reconciled monthly to the sub ledger detail or supporting analysis 

in accordance with the account reconciliation policy and procedure. 

 

7c. Prepayments 

 

It is HA’s policy to recognise prepaid assets and expenses as prepayments made to secure the use of 

assets or the receipt of goods or services at a future date. Prepaid assets and expenses are generally 

recognized  as  current on the balance sheet and amortised to an expense account on a straight-line 

basis over the period in which the benefits are received. Proper documentation must be maintained 

for each item, with the account balance reconciled monthly. 

In addition, HA has established the following standard when recording prepaid assets and expenses. Only 

valid asset and expense items shall be included as prepaid assets and expenses. 
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The acquisition and payment of the prepaid asset or expense must be in compliance with the 

Procurement policy and procedure and the Accounts Payable policy and procedure. 

 

 Procedure  

On occasion, because of industry norms and/or agreement terms and conditions, a prepayment of 

an asset or expense may be required. 

Each responsible accountant or equivalent is responsible for the identification and subsequent 

tracking of their respective prepaid asset/expenses. Once a prepaid asset or expense has been 

identified, the accountant shall determine the portion of the amount paid that is prepaid. The 

balance in the prepaid asset or expense account is amortised to an expense account on a straight- line 

basis over the period in which the benefits (services) are received. 

 

For example, if the Company pays its six-month insurance premium in advance, the amount 

recorded as prepaid after the first month would be five sixths of the premium. 

Unless otherwise approved, amounts are charged to the profit and loss/income and expenditure 

accounts on a straight-line basis over the appropriate period. 

 

Prepaid asset/expense amounts shall be properly recorded in a sub-ledger at the time the expense is 

paid. 

The Finance controller/supervisor or equivalent shall monitor the various types of prepaid 

asset/expenses and maintain a separate schedule of prepaid items to be reconciled with the general 

ledger each month. 

Supporting documentation for the journal entry must be maintained, with a copy forwarded to 

Accounts Payable and should include (but is not limited to) the following: 

¶ Description of the asset, service or benefit. 

¶ Vendor and contact information. 

¶ Reference to the approved purchase order. 

¶ Prepayment benefit period, with start and end dates of the prepayment. 

¶ Amount of the prepayment and the total amount to be paid. 

¶ Amortisation method – straight line over the period. 

¶ Formula controls to ensure that the prepaid account does not move into a negative position. 

¶ Any other information. 

For financial integrity and accuracy, documentation and records retention standards apply to all prepaid 

journal entries. Documentation includes approved and appropriate backup to support the prepaid 

amount, 

In accordance with the account reconciliation policy and procedure, the prepaid balance must be 
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reconciled each month. 

Areas of Responsibility 

 

Finance is responsible for the accurate and timely recording of eligible prepaid assets/expenses. 

Authorisation and approvals for spending must be in accordance with approved spending limits. The 

purchase order must clearly indicate if the terms include prepayment or down payment 

arrangements. 

Finance shall reconcile and validate the monthly activity and closing balance of this account. 

Accounting for prepaid assets/expenses shall be conducted in the most efficient and accurate way 

possible. 

Standard and/or recurring journal entries must be established whenever possible, in order to 

minimise the time spent processing routine entries. 

7d. Intercompany Transactions 

 

It is HA’s policy to account for Intercompany transactions in a manner that results in the appropriate and 

timely recording of transactions as well as equal and offsetting entries to the Intercompany balance 

sheet or income statement accounts. Intercompany transactions must be reported as an Intercompany 

Accounts Receivable or Intercompany Accounts Payable. 

 

In no case shall transactions be accounted for as Intercompany on the balance sheet while they are 

pending approval from the counterparty. 

 

Intercompany transactions and settlement must be in compliance with local laws and regulations. 

 

 Procedures  

Intercompany transactions shall be classified as: 

A. Income transactions. Intercompany income-related transactions must be processed as 

invoices. 

B. Cross-charges. These refer to allocations and other charges that affect the operating 

expense of one entity and are incurred by, and therefore more properly recorded to, another entity. 

Intercompany cross-charges may be processed using the Intercompany transfer form. 

A. Intercompany Income 

 

Intercompany income transactions may be processed into the accounting system up to five business days 

prior to the end of the accounting close unless otherwise approved by the Head of Finance or equivalent. 

Those transactions that are not processed in time and relate to the current accounting period must 

remain on the initiator’s books for processing the following month. 

Intercompany revenue is processed in the same way as any other revenue except that all HA entities are 
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assigned a customer number, which flags it as an Intercompany transaction. 

B. Intercompany Cross-charges 

 

An Intercompany Transfer Form shall be completed for all Intercompany cross-charge transactions. 

Cross-charges may include allocations or valid expenses that were incurred on behalf of another 

entity. Cross-charges shall be processed monthly, prior to the month end. 

Cross-charges for salary, payroll-related expenses and other costs incurred. 

 

It is the responsibility of the manager initiating the invoice to obtain all required information, 

including the general ledger department and account numbers and to complete the entire form. The 

Finance manager or equivalent of the initiating and receiving areas must approve the form prior to the 

transaction being entered into the accounting system as an Intercompany Accounts Receivable or 

Intercompany Accounts Payable. 

Intercompany transactions shall be processed into the accounting system in the month in which they are 

incurred no later than five (5) working days before the last working day of the month. 

Intercompany balances should be processed in accordance with the accounting statement close 

schedule. At that time, any out-of-balance conditions (i.e. unreconciled and/or unresolved 

transactions) should be reversed and remain on the initiator’s books for processing in the following 

month. 

Invoices and Intercompany Transfer Forms 

 

The initiating manager is responsible for ensuring that the receiving manager receives a copy of the 

Intercompany invoice and supporting documentation with instructions to forward it to their local 

finance officers. 

The offsetting entry for all Intercompany transactions must be in the same currency as the initial entry. 

Each entity must enter their side of the Intercompany invoice in the same currency. 

Settlement 

 

Intercompany settlement is the month following the recording of the transaction. On a monthly basis, 

HA entities are required to pay down as much of their Intercompany balance as possible. 

The entity is responsible for confirming the list of invoices to be paid down, forwarding the detailed 

settlement information to the relevant counter HA entity. 

 Since the amounts owed and the outstanding balances settled are transacted in the same currency, the 

country that sends the payment may have a currency exchange gain or loss. The exchange gain or loss 

should be recognised on the profit and loss statement. 

Tax Implications 

 

In transferring goods and services that are used domestically for revenue generation, many countries 
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require that these goods and services be transferred using a formula that includes the cost of the goods 

or services plus a pricing uplift. HA entities should seek tax advice if this is applicable. 

Areas of Responsibility 

 

The Head of Finance or equivalent is responsible for ensuring that the Intercompany Accounts 

Receivable and Accounts Payable are monitored and reconciled. At the end of the period, the net of 

Intercompany Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable should be zero. Unmatched Intercompany 

transactions shall be reversed and must remain on the initiator’s accounting records. 

Intercompany transactions that arrive late (according to the accounting statement close schedule) are 

evaluated for materiality and must be approved by the Head of Finance or equivalent if they are to be 

processed for the period. Late transactions will be processed in the following month (i.e. the items 

remain on the initiating entity’s books). 

In accordance with the account reconciliation policy, all balance sheet accounts must be reconciled. 

 

Both the initiating and receiving entities shall maintain Intercompany invoices and Intercompany 

Cross-charges Transfer forms are part of the audit trail documents and are to be retained. 

7e. Exchange Rates 

 

HA has designated Treasury as the sole resource for providing currency exchange rates for use in 

financial transactions and reporting. Assigned Finance Individual(s) has the responsibility to input the 

exchange rates into the accounting system. Company subsidiaries use the exchange rates provided to 

translate local currency transactions into GBP. 

 

It is HA’s policy to recognise exchange gains and losses in accordance with Generally Accepted 

Accounting Principles (GAAP) and in the period they occur 

 

The following definitions refer to this section and may be used within this section. 

 

Exchange rates are defined as a rate where one unit of currency can be exchanged or converted into 

another currency. Exchange rates are an expression of the amount of one unit of currency it would take 

to equal one unit of another currency. 

Functional currency is defined as currency in which HA normally generates and spends cash, and that in which 

transactions are normally undertaken in a specific country. It is the currency of the primary economic 

environment in the country in which HA operates. 

A functional currency does NOT change. 

 

Recording transactions 

 

All transactions other than those in functional currencies are treated as in foreign currencies. 

Procedures 
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Transactions should be recorded at spot-rate of the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

The rate from www.Oanda.com can be used unless there is a government-defined source for exchange 

rates. 

Foreign currency translation refers to the process used to express functional currency into the reporting 

currency (i.e. Euros, GBP, USD). 

Presentation (reporting) currency 

 

Each HA entity should convert all transactions into one standard, reporting currency. This allows HA to 

monitor the overall office expenditure and compare it to the budgets. The presentation currency of HA 

is the currency in which the budget is set. 

For quarterly reports the exchange rate that should be used is the closing exchange rate on 31st March, 

30th June, 30th September or 31st December. 

Foreign currency transactions arise when: 

 

1. HA buys or sells goods or services, the prices of which are denominated in a foreign currency 

other than the functional currency; 

2. HA receives funds or makes payments in a foreign currency other than the functional currency; 

3. HA is a party to a foreign currency spot-rate or forward option contract; or 

4. HA for other reasons acquires or disposes of assets or incurs or settles liabilities denominated in a 

foreign currency. 

Foreign currency translation refers to the process used to express functional currency, that is to say 

non-U.K. financial statements into the reporting currency – eg, Pounds Sterling (GBP). 

Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which HA operates 

– i.e. the currency of the environment in which HA primarily generates and expends cash. 

 

Exchange rates are used in converting transactions for representation within HA’s financial 

statements. HA calculates and uses the following exchange rates: 

1. Income statement or profit  and loss statement (P&L) rate refers to the daily spot-

rates used to translate the foreign currency P&L for the period into functional 

currency. This rate is gathered as daily spot-rates quoted as on onanda.com 

or bank or government-defined exchange rate sources. For reporting 

currency, the average 30-day daily average spot-rates should be used.  

2. Statement of financial position balance sheet (B/S) rate is determined using the 

last day of the month’s spot-rate and is used when translating the foreign 

currency B/S into reporting currency. The spot-rate is taken from the last day of 

the month’s P&L input. 

3. Budget rates are the forward-looking exchange rates used when translating the 

http://www.oanda.com/
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budgets for plan and forecast purposes. The budget rate is based on 

information available and includes management discretion. Once established, the 

budget exchange rates are not changed during the planning year. Budget 

variances due to exchange differences shall be calculated and documented. 

 

Once the exchange rates have been compiled from the independent published sources, the rates are 

input into the accounting system and made available to the relevant departments/units. 

 

Donor-funded programmes – exchange rates 

 

The following is for guidance, although reference must be made to the donor guidelines to ensure that 

the correct, updated position is applied: 

Question Answer 

May you use an exchange rate system 

whereby monthly rates are used instead of using 

a fixed EURO rate applicable when the first pre-

financing request was received? If so, should this 

be requested for each separate grant agreement 

or is there a way to capture this information in 

one go? 

The exchange rate referred to does not 

intervene in the currency exchanges you do 

inside your organisation but is only used for 

converting these amounts into EURO for the 

final financial report (and so starts from your 

financial system). By default, the rate you used 

for entering the pre-financing amount in your 

financial system will be the conversion rate for 

the final financial report in EURO. 

 

You might, however, prefer to use another 

exchange rate. If so, you should explain the 

exchange rate calculation and methodology in 

your action proposal before signing the 

agreement (can be done below the table in 

section 11). If accepted by DG ECHO, this 

acceptance will be confirmed in a Special 

Condition under Article 8.2. If you wish to use 

rates other than the default rate, this has, in 

principle, to be specified in each agreement. 

If you apply these different rates for all your 

agreements, you can write a letter to DG ECHO 

(ECHO/B-2), explaining the system you want to 

apply. If accepted, you will receive a formal 

acceptance letter by DG ECHO recognizing  the 

acceptance of that procedure for all your 

agreements. You have to refer to this acceptance 

letter below the table in section 11, and to 

Article 8.2 of the agreement. 

Reference: Fact Sheet C1 (“Exchange rate 

issues”) 
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Your HQ is located in the Euro-zone. You wish to 

derogate to the exchange rate rules laid down in 

Article 10.4 of the General Conditions. How 

should you proceed? 

If your HQ is based in the Euro-zone (in which 

case, we assume your HQ reporting is also in 

Euro) there is no exchange rate issue when you 

report to DG ECHO. With regard to the 

exchange rates applied to transactions between 

your HQ and the field, you can choose which 

system of conversion is applied, on the 

condition that the following essential 

requirements are respected: 

 

 it is written down as an accounting rule 

(it is standard practice) that has been 

submitted to DG ECHO in the 

framework of the FPA; 

 the system or rule is applied 

consistently; 

 the system gives equal treatment to all 

types of transactions (and funding 

sources); and 

 the system can be demonstrated. 

 

This should be available on request from the 

European Commission or its delegated 

representative. 

 

Reference: Fact Sheet C1 όά9ȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ rate 

ƛǎǎǳŜǎέύ 

Validation date: 09.02.2010 

Are currency exchange losses eligible? This is a risk you have to bear. Pursuant to 

Article 18.6 of the General Conditions, currency 

exchange losses do not constitute eligible costs 

for DG ECHO. Similarly, exchange rate gains are not 

considered as action revenue and are not 

deducted at liquidation stage. 

 

Reference: Article 18.6 of the General 

/ƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎΣ CŀŎǘ {ƘŜŜǘ /м όά9ȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ ǊŀǘŜ ƛǎǎǳŜǎέύ 
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You have received a 50% pre-financing. Which 

exchange rate must be used for the second 

30% pre-financing and the remaining 20% 

expenditure? 

For the second 30% pre-financing and the 

remaining 20% the applicable exchange rate is 

the rate which was applied for the first pre- 

financing payment. If you wish any other rate, 

you will have to submit a justified derogation 

request. 

 

Reference: Fact Sheet C1 όά9ȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ rate ƛǎǎǳŜǎέύ 

Is it required or optional that you spend funds 

acquired from exchange rate gains on 

additional activities for the action? 

With regard to gains from exchange rate, DG 

ECHO expects that these funds will be used to 

finance the implementation of humanitarian aid 

actions. 

 

Reference: Fact Sheet C1 όά9ȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ rate 

ƛǎǎǳŜǎέύ 

Validation date: 09.02.2010 

Question about the exchange rates. What 

happens when a) you write a budget in dollars 

(your working money) with a rate of 1= 1,45$ 

so as to reach 1000 beneficiaries?; and b) the 

value of the euro when you get the agreement 

is down to 1= 1,25 and it allows you to cover 

only 850 beneficiaries. 

As a general principle, exchange rate losses are 

not eligible costs and will not be compensated 

(Article 18.6 of the General Conditions). This 

applies to all donors and funds. 

 

In the action proposal submitted for DG ECHO 

funding, planned costs shall be calculated at the 

best foreseeable market price and according to 

the exchange rate expected to be used. 

 

Exchange rates by definition fluctuate during 

the action's implementation period. That may 

also be the case between the submission of the 

proposal and the actual signature of the grant 

agreement. But similarly, and to use the above 

example, it is possible that the EURO will go up 

again after signature of the agreement. 

 

It is considered good practice to keep DG ECHO 

informed when serious fluctuations might entail 

increased/decreased results. In the 

intermediate report the results should be 

adapted to reflect the real status of the action. 

As the report is due three months before the 

end of the action, additional funding or reduced 

results may on this occasion be negotiated with 

DG ECHO. 

 

It is also recommended that partners regularly 
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(i.e., monthly) review the fluctuations of 

exchange rates and adapt the amounts on the 

bank accounts in different currencies 

appropriately. 

 

Areas of Responsibility 

 

Finance is responsible for issuing exchange rates as per the methodology above and secured from an 

independent, published source. 

Finance is responsible for: 

1. reviewing the rates and posting (uploading) the rates into the accounting system; and 

2. validating the rates to ensure that the posting of the rates was done accurately. 

3. Finance managers are responsible for checking the specific exchange rates used by their 

entity. 

 

7f. Expected Balance Sheet Controls 

 

All Offices are expected to implement the following controls: 

 

Control Objectives Expected Controls 

General ledger account balances are 

regularly reconciled and analysed to ensure 

the general ledger captures all relevant 

financial information. Any reconciling items 

1. Control accounts are prepared and balanced 

regularly with the subsidiary records and 

feeder systems by someone other than those 

responsible for the feeder systems. 
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Control Objectives Expected Controls 

or exceptions are investigated and cleared on a 

timely basis. 

2. All suspense accounts are identified and 

reviewed on a timely basis. Any items within 

these accounts are cleared prior to the period 

end close or reclassified into the appropriate 

account. Any uncleared balances are 

investigated and resolved. 

3. Management monitoring is in place of the 

closedown process in accordance with 

predetermined timescales. 

4. All income and expenditure accruals are 

adequately approved and supported by 

adequate documentation. 

Foreign currency exchange rates used to 

translate reported financial balances are 

accurate, approved and correctly applied. 

5. Foreign exchange rates to be used by finance are 

adequately documented within HA Policy. All 

rates input into systems used by Field Office 

for reporting and are checked to ensure they 

are consistent with rates issued by HA. 

Country financial information is prepared in- 

line with local accounting principles and HA 

Policy. 

6. Required adjustments are performed by all 

Field Offices/Partners to ensure they are line 

with local statutory requirements for 

accounts which require submission to local 

authorities as necessary. 

Partner/Field Office accounts are 

appropriately reviewed prior to submission 

to HA to ensure accounts reflect the 

underlying financial records accurately. 

7. Subsidiary financial data is reviewed by 

management, validated against prior period 

history and / or budget, or any other 

appropriate records and approved. Any 

unusual account balances are investigated 

and documented by management timely. 

Local Financial Statements 
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Annual financial statements prepared in 

accordance with local statutory requirements 

and are accurate and all necessary 

information is disclosed appropriately and 

reviewed 

8. Up-to-date disclosure checklists from HA are 

used to ensure that all relevant financial 

information is disclosed appropriately within 

the financial statements in accordance with 

local statutory requirements. 

9. Each entity provides local financial 

statements to local authorities and has those 

statements reviewed or audited by a suitably 

qualified external professional. 

10. HA Tender process is followed when 

appointing an External Auditor. 

 

Control Objectives Expected Controls 

 11. Local financial statements are reconciled to 

general ledgers to ensure completeness. Any 

variances are investigated and rectified in a 

timely manner. 

12. A check is in place to ensure local financial 

statements are submitted in a timely manner 

in accordance with local country 

requirements and regulations. 

13. Audited financial statements are submitted to 

HA in UK. 
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Section 8: Tangible Assets and Inventory 

It is HA’s policy to define Property, Plant and Equipment (PP&E, also referred to as PP&E Assets) in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, which states that property, plant and 

equipment should be recognised as assets when it is probable that: 

 

• It is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to HA; and 

 

• The cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

 

Non-capitalised assets: each HA entity shall set the non-capitalised assets level according to the 

economic and monetary conditions in each country of operation. 

 

PP&E Assets owned by HA are depreciated over the asset’s anticipated useful life. 

 

It is HA’s policy to depreciate PP&E Assets assuming a straight-line methodology and zero salvage or 

residual value. HA has established asset categories and determined the depreciable life schedule based on 

the typical term the asset is in use. 

8a. Depreciable Life Schedule 

 

Property, Plant and Equipment Asset Category Depreciable Life 

Land 2% (50 years) 

Buildings 2% (50 years) 

Leasehold Improvements 2% (over life of the lease) 

Vehicles 25% (4 years) 

Computer Equipment 20% (5 years) 

Furniture, Office Equipment 20% (5 years) 

Software 10% (10 years) 

Construction in Progress Not applicable 

 

8b. Capitalisation 

Each PP&E Asset must be recorded in a fixed asset register according to its category. The asset 

category reflects the type of asset that is acquired. 

The following guidance applies to all asset categories: 

 

Costs included for capitalisation: 



 54 

Costs incurred initially to acquire or construct the PP&E and costs incurred subsequently to add to, 

replace part of it, or service it. 

The cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

 

An approved purchase order is required for all asset acquisitions. PP&E Asset additions must be 

purchased within the established financial approval policies of HA. They must further be in accordance 

with the budgets set for/by HA with appropriate approval levels that must be followed. 

8c. Expensed Assets 

HA shall set a limit in regard to assets of a small value and expensed at the time of purchase. HA shall 

set small value limits for fixed assets according to the local economical standards. HA will records 

assets with a predetermined individual value of GBP £500 (in the United Kingdom). All Costs below 

GBP £500 are treated as expense items and are expensed directly to the P&L. There are exceptions to 

this, assets such as mobile phones, external hard drives or other similar assets given to staff that HA 

has to track by individual and record are to be recorded as an asset.  Additionally, software licenses, 

which individually may fall below the £500 de-minimis limit, will be capitalised and recorded in the 

fixed asset register. 

It is important to maintain all expensed assets records including but not restricted to: the assets tag 

number, serial number, description and cost. Each Asset should be recorded separately; example if 5 

(FIVE) mobile phones are purchased then they should be recorded as 5 (FIVE) separate assets. 

Purchases 

Unless the individual assets qualify as PP&E Assets, purchases acquired in bulk must be expensed. The capitalisation 

limit set refers to a specific item, not to the overall purchase order or project spending. 

Exceptions: 

 

a. When individual parts are ordered and constructed into a whole, then the parts may be 

capitalised. 

b. When individual items are purchased in bulk as part of a project. 

 

8d. Acquisition 

All assets acquired shall be recorded in a fixed-asset register, which captures the following but is not 

limited to: 

 the asset’s tag number 

 serial number 

 description 

 location 

 custodian 

 institutional donor (if applicable) 

 cost 

 depreciation rate and policy 
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Approvals/Documentation 

 

Accounting Records 

 

Upon asset acquisition, HA shall assign and attach asset number tags to the property, where it can be 

readily located. HA shall maintain a detailed listing of each PP&E Asset item along with the following: 

 Depreciation records that will include the description 

 Date acquired 

 Asset must be held in the name of HA 

 Supplier name 

 Cost basis 

 Assigned department 

 Depreciation method/life 

 Accumulated depreciation 

 Net book value 

 

Depreciation 

 

Depreciation is the accounting treatment that recognises the consumption of the asset and recurs 

monthly until the asset is fully depreciated or retired and disposed. 

Depreciation is determined based on the cost of acquiring the asset and as defined by the asset 

category. PP&E Assets begin depreciating at the time the asset is placed into service. If at the time the asset 

is placed into service the final asset cost is not known or the vendor’s invoice has not been processed, 

then the asset value should be estimated and accrued along with the anticipated depreciation 

expense. Once the actual amounts are known the accruals must be reversed and the actual amounts 

recorded. 

For ease of monitoring and tracking depreciation, only full month depreciation expenses are to be 

recorded. 

Assets begin depreciating in the month they are acquired or placed into service. 

PP&E Assets owned by HA are depreciated over the asset’s anticipated useful life. 

It is HA’s policy to depreciate PP&E Assets assuming a straight-line methodology and zero salvage or 

residual value. HA has established asset categories and determined the depreciable life schedule based 

on the typical term the asset is in use. 

Financial Authorisation and Approval 

 

In order to acquire, modify, or dispose of PP&E Assets, director-level authorisation is required. In order to 

provide appropriate financial control over the expenditure of funds, a system of approvals based on 

organisation level and monetary amount has been established. Financial Authorisation and approval 

are in accordance with the Procurement policy and procedure and HA’s Delegation of Authorisation 

policy and procedure. 
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Purchases 

Unless the individual assets qualify as PP&E Assets, purchases acquired in bulk must be expensed. The 

capitalisation limit set refers to a specific item, not to the overall purchase order or project spending. 

Exceptions: 

 

a. When individual parts are ordered and constructed into a whole, then the parts may be 

capitalised. 

b. When individual items are purchased in bulk as part of a project. 

 

Accounting for Disposal or Replacement 

 

Authorisation to replace or dispose of the asset requires approval, with corresponding documentation. 

Documentation should include the following for each asset: type of asset, date originally purchased or 

acquired, asset description, vendor, and acquisition cost, if known. 

Assets remain on the balance sheet and in the Fixed-Asset (or PP&E Asset) ledger for as long as the asset 

is still in use, even if the asset is fully depreciated. When HA no longer owns the asset and HA has 

transferred its rights and responsibilities of ownership, the cost of the asset and the related 

accumulated depreciation (also known as net book value) must be removed from the fixed-asset 

register. The remaining net book value plus cost of disposal less proceeds (salvage or resale value) 

determines whether a net Gain or Loss on Disposal is to be recorded on the Income Statement. 

It is the department manager’s responsibility to notify the Head of Finance when an asset is disposed of or 

is no longer in use, and to provide any additional costs or proceeds associated with the disposal of the 

asset. 

8e. Transfers 

The transfer of PP&E Assets between departments, divisions, or business units should have no impact on 

an asset’s net book value, but before the transfer of an asset, approval must be sought from 

management of HA. All assets are transferred at their net book value, with no recognition of a gain or loss, 

by the department transferring the asset. 

A change in a capital asset’s location or ownership occurs when: 

 

 A PP&E Asset is MOVED to another office or building, even if the ownership remains the same. 

 A PP&E Asset is TRANSFERRED to another department, even if the location remains the same. 

 A PP&E Asset is TRANSFERRED to another primary user, even if the location and/or 

department remain the same. 

Interdepartmental transfers of assets will be reported in writing to the department managing the assets 

of HA and using the applicable forms that should capture the description, serial number and the name of 

the department to receive the property. The department manager to whom the item was originally 

assigned will be held accountable, until the department managing the assets is notified of the transfer. 

After being notified, the department manager acquiring the property assumes responsibility.  
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All costs associated with the transfer should be expensed. 

8f. Disposals 

Assets are to be removed from the balance sheet on disposal or when they are withdrawn from use and 

no future economic benefits are expected from their disposal. The gains or losses on disposal are 

recognised in the income statement. 

Procedure 

The annual planning and budgeting cycle determines and approves requests for capital and operating 

budget requirements. The department requesting the asset is responsible for making the application and 

gaining all financial and operational approvals. 

An approved purchase order is required for all asset acquisitions. The requesting department verifies 

receipt of the asset. 

The asset is recorded on the PP&E (or Fixed Asset) ledger, and monthly depreciation begins when the 

asset is placed into service. 

Once the asset is no longer required for use in operational activities, the asset may be retired and 

disposed of by sale, trade-in, exchange, or abandonment. All disposals of PP&E Assets must be 

approved by a Director of HA prior to disposal. The details of assets – tag numbers, serial numbers, 

description, cost, accumulated depreciation and reason for retirement/disposal – will be 

communicated to the department managing the assets on an Asset Disposal Form. 

All sales of HA assets to HA employees along with donations of HA PP&E Assets must be approved by a 

Director of HA. An Asset Disposal Form must be completed prior to the sale or disposition. The 

department managing the assets should be provided with complete documentation (including asset 

tag/serial number and payment by cheque) of sales on a timely basis by the department coordinating the 

sale. 

Upon approval of disposition, the asset may be disposed of in the following manner – sold, donated, 

scrapped, or used in a trade-in transaction if authorised. Upon disposition of the asset, the department 

managing the assets and the Finance department will be notified, and a request made to Finance to 

remove the asset from the ledger and recognise any corresponding accounting gains and/or losses. 

8g. Institutional Donor Assets and Project Accounting 

HA entities working in conjunction with institutional donors should maintain a detailed listing of 

each fixed asset item purchased, and utilised concurrently with the institutional donor projects. 

Before the disposal or transfer of institutional donor-held assets, written approval must be sought from 

the institutional donor. 

Accounting Treatment 

 

The recommended accounting practice for PP&E Assets purchased for projects is as: 

The assets purchased from project budgets should be expensed at the time of purchase (i.e. showing 

actual project expenditure). 

In addition, the assets purchased should be controlled by maintaining an asset register (as stated in 



 58 

Approvals/Documentation) for all assets. Thereby, the accounting treatment will be as follows: 

 Dr. PP&E Assets expense account (in the Income and Expenditure Statement) 

 Cr. Bank (balance sheet) 

 

 Dr. PP&E Assets Cost (balance sheet) 

 Cr. PP&E Assets Depreciation (balance sheet) 

 

Thereby provide fully write off the project asset in the year of purchase. The net impact on the balance 

sheet is nil. 

For control purposes – the asset must be maintained in the asset register and the value of the asset 

should be depreciated in accordance with the guidelines in place and according to the appropriate 

depreciation rate. 

Deferred Capital Grants 

 

Where there are grant-funded capital assets, offset the depreciation against a deferred capital grants 

account on the balance sheet. 

However, subject to agreement from external Auditors, it is possible to write it off in the first year 

provided that there is adequate disclosure in the notes to the accounts and the assets are still on the 

balance sheet and the fixed asset register, but they will clearly be fully depreciated. 

Areas of Responsibility Depreciable Lives 

The estimated lives are based on historical experience with similar assets and taking into consideration 

anticipated technological and other changes. If technological changes occur more rapidly or slowly 

than anticipated, or in a different form, useful lives may need to be updated accordingly. Asset useful 

life shall be reviewed annually or as events or circumstances indicate. Factors that could trigger an 

impairment review include significant changes in the manner of HA’s use of the acquired asset, changes 

in historical or projected operating performance, and cash flows and significant negative economic 

trends. The Financial Accountant establishes monitors and the depreciable life of each asset category. 

Safeguarding the Asset 

 

From the time the asset is received and accepted by HA until it is disposed of, the asset must be 

safeguarded from damage and theft. Safeguarding the asset occurs at each stage of the asset’s life, 

including when the asset is received, assigned, and used in the normal course of operations. Evaluating and 

setting up controls to limit the risk of damage or theft of the asset reside with having effective Internal 

Controls. 

It is the department manager’s responsibility to ensure the asset is returned to HA in good working 

order when the employee is transferred to a different work assignment, or has their contract 

terminated. 

Manager and Finance Responsibility 

 

Each manager is responsible for the assets contained within the PP&E Asset ledger. Finance 
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responsibility includes but is not limited to: 

Maintaining the accuracy and reliability of the accounting records. Documentation must be kept 

supporting asset acquisition, journal entries, and asset disposal. 

Reconciling the sub ledger to the ledger balances in accordance with the account reconciliation policy and 

procedures. 

Maintaining records to support depreciation and amortisation expense for the accounting and tax 

(where appropriate). 

Financial and Physical Control 

 

On an annual basis, all HA departments should produce a report showing a list of the assets assigned to 

that department and any acquisitions, disposals and transfers during the past year. Any discrepancies 

noted by the HA departments should be notified to the Head of Finance as soon as possible. 

PP&E Assets should be inventoried (counted) on a periodic basis. HA should perform a full physical 

Inventory of HA PP&E Assets on a yearly rotational basis. 

PP&E Assets that are not accounted for after the physical Inventory shall be investigated, and then 

reported to the appropriate director who should report the loss to Internal Audit. 

Shrinkage should be written off to the appropriate account after management and Finance approval. 

 

8h. Expected Tangible Asset Controls 

 

HA and its partners/field offices are expected to implement the following controls: 

 

 

Control Objectives Expected Controls 

Fixed assets are appropriately accounted for. 1. Accounting for fixed assets is in line with HA 

Financial Regulations. Finance management 

reviews accounting for fixed assets to 

determine whether this has been performed 

appropriately. 

Capital expenditure is valid and approved. 2. Capital expenditure invoices are approved and 

are supported by a valid purchase order. 

Control Objectives Expected Controls 

 Capital Expenditure shall be subject to the HA 

Capital Expenditure Policy and Procedures. 
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Disposals are appropriately authorised. 3. Disposals are made following a thorough 

review of options. The outcome of this review 

is assessed, and the disposal decision is 

approved by appropriate management. 

4. Before the disposal or transfer of institutional 

donor-held assets, written approval must be 

sought from the institutional donor. 

All fixed assets are appropriately and 

accurately recorded. All changes to the fixed 

asset register are valid. 

5. A fixed asset register is maintained & 

periodically reviewed for accuracy and 

reasonableness by management. 

6. The fixed asset register is reconciled to the 

General Ledger. Reconciling items are 

investigated and corrected. Reconciliations 

are independently reviewed by management. 

Fixed assets are adequately safeguarded. 7. Security processes exist to safeguard assets for 

example restricting building access to 

authorised individuals and physically securing 

mobile assets where appropriate. 

8. Valuable assets are tagged where possible. 

 

8i. Inventory 

 

It is HA’s policy to properly control Inventory and consistently apply a costing methodology so as to 

ensure accuracy of the records for materials, work in process, finished goods, used goods and parts. 

Inventory valuation shall be in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

It is HA’s policy to monitor its Inventory undertaking periodic counts, after which adjustments for 

discrepancies are made to the Inventory records. 

 

It is HA’s policy to value Inventory using a standard cost methodology determined and acceptable by 

International Financial Reporting Standards for the applicable category of Inventory. 

 

The valuation method for each item of Inventory shall remain consistent from one accounting period to 

the next. Changes in value will be applied against Inventory reserve accounts such as shrinkage, excess 

and obsolete, and standard-to-actual reserve. Any changes in methodology must be reviewed and 

approved by the HA Finance. 

Expected Inventory Controls 

 

HA and its partners/offices are expected to implement the following controls: 
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Control Objectives Expected Controls 

Stock is held securely 9. Physical controls are in place at store rooms. 

Stock is appropriately accounted for. 10. Distribution to Stock reconciliations are 

carried out on a regular basis especially at 

year end and project end point. 

11. Financial accounting for stock is performed in 

line with HA Financial Regulations. 

Goods are received against valid purchase 

requests. All goods received meet expected 

quality standards. 

12. Receiving staff count and match goods 

received to purchase request records. 

13. Goods Delivery Notes are retained. 

In-kind stock is properly accounted for 14. In-kind stock independently valued and 

documented. 

15. The financial accounting of In-kind stock is 

line with HA regulations. A clear audit trail is 

maintained. 

16. Robust donor reporting is in place for 

feedback on in-kind stock use. 
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Section 9: Accounts Receivable 

 

It is HA’s policy to establish effective collection and application of funds according to applicable standards and 

regulations, whilst balancing the risk of bad debts from uncollected Accounts Receivable.  

Accounts Receivable has primary responsibility for applying funds received to “customer” Account Receivable 

balances. 

Definition: customers refers to all donors, partners, institutional grant funders, corporate sponsors and trade 

customers.  

 

9a. Income Recognition 

HA shall recognise income in accordance with applicable accounting regulations and charity regulations, such as; 

¶ Entitlement – control over the rights or other access to the economic benefit has passed to HA, 

¶ Measurement – the monetary value or amount of the income can be measured reliably, and the costs 

incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably, 

¶ Probable – it is more likely than not the economic benefits associated with the transaction or gift will flow 

to HA. 

HA shall refer to the applicable accounting and charity regulations in regards to classifying and recognising income 

in regards to; 

¶ The substance of the transaction, 

¶ Performance conditions versus restrictions, 

¶ The importance of control in determining the impact of the conditions. 

 

9b. Direct Debits Claim 

Direct Debit Claims are to be submitted per calendar month in accordance with the bank cut-off period and HA 

guidelines.  

shall be regularly reviewed and the following steps shall be taken;  

¶ The Direct debit claim is to be made by whom the Smart card is registered under or an appointed 

finance personal  

¶ The Smart card used to access the Bacs portal is to be secured and locked away in the Finance office.  

¶ All electronic documents and files used for the Direct debit claim is to be securely saved in the relevant 

Finance folder  

¶ The sharing of Direct debit files and reports to other departments must ensure relevant GDPR guidelines 

are followed.  

¶ Finance personnel shall review the direct debit claims monthly as part of the bank reconciliations process.  

 

9c. Refund Policy 

HA shall refer to the applicable accounting and charity regulations when reviewing a refund claim for a 

donation.  

  

¶ Ensuring due process and policy are followed by HA pertaining to authorising a refund.   
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¶ Each claim must be documented on a refund request form accompanied with supporting with evidence.  

¶ Any valid refunds must be approved with the signatures of the Finance manager and the manager of the 

relevant department whom it concerns.   

¶ Any claims made for a refund must go through finance and compliance checks to ensure global sanctions 

policy and anti-money laundering policy  

¶ All documents and files used for refunds claims is to be securely saved in the relevant Finance folder.  

¶ Exceptional cases and circumstances are to be reviewed in accordance with the charity regulations.   

¶ HA will aim to process or provide a response for all refunds within 10 working days.   

 

9d. Accounts Receivable Invoicing 

 

All invoices should be raised in DMS (Donor Management System) and should agree and reconcile to the 

debtor account in SAGE (If unpaid at the date of review), ensuring 

 All invoices are sequentially numbered. 

 The correct classification is applied to the category of funds received. 

 Credit terms defined for each ‘customer’. 

 SAGE report for outstanding ‘debts’ shall be reviewed monthly. 

 A standard letter shall be issued once the period of credit has expired. 

 The authority to ‘write-off’ bad debts shall be referred to the Head of Finance. 

 

9e. Grant Receiving 

 

HA shall ensure all grants received are properly controlled, evidenced that they are effectively used in the 

achievement of HA’s aims and objectives, as such HA shall ensure 

 

1. The grant-making body provides a date on which the grant shall be received and coordinate 

the deliverables to start in accordance with that date. 

2. The funds shall be paid directly into HA’s bank account. 

3. Assigned HA personnel shall monitor the effective use of the grant. 

4. HA shall produce regular (determined by the size and scale of the project) reports of the 

project for which the grant has been allocated. 

5. On completion of the project a report shall be prepared including a breakdown of expenditure 

against the income received from the grant. 

6. Funds un-spent from the grant shall be clarified with the grant maker. 

7. Contingency plans should cover any potential for overspend. 

 

9f. Accounts Receivable Aging Analysis 

The Finance department reviews the customers’ Account Receivable balances and invoices due. An 

Accounts Receivable aging report is prepared and used for the following, which are further described 

below: 



 64 

A. Analyse and predict future cash flows. 

 

B. Present customer account balances, including current and overdue status. 

 

C. Determine the amount required within the allowance for doubtful accounts at year-end basis. 

 

D. Determine the internal measurements for day’s funds overdue. 

 

A. Analyse and predict future cash flows 

 

The Finance department prepares monthly funds forecasts in anticipation of funds to be collected. This 

information is submitted to the Financial Accountant, Treasurer or equivalent as input, and for inclusion 

within the Overall Cash Flow statements. 

B. Present customer account balances, including current and overdue status 

 

The Accounts Receivable aging report is based on the customers’ unpaid invoices aged by the invoice date. 

Transactions between the invoice date and the due date (which may vary by customer according to 

contractual terms and conditions) shall be considered current. The customers’ due dates (and other 

contractual terms and conditions) are recorded within the customer master database as part of the 

customers’ Accounts Receivable profile. 

It is the responsibility of Accounts Receivable, along with the relevant department(s), to resolve slow 

payment, short pays (i.e. customer deductions) and no payment issues. Accounts Receivable notifies the 

relevant department to help resolve payment issues. 

Methods of collection include but are not limited to the following: 

 

¶ Collection calls should be professionally performed by person(s) assigned the responsibility and 

should be in accordance with any country specific regulations. The purposes of collection calls are 

to collect on overdue accounts receivable, and to resolve customer issues. A summary of the 

calls should be noted within the collections log. 

Calls and communication with the customer may include courtesy calls prior to the invoice due date and 

throughout the collection period. 

Letters relating to overdue invoices may be sent at periodic intervals with progressive collection 

language and consequence. 

At appropriate times and at the discretion of the directors, each overdue account should be reviewed for 

potential submission to an outside collection agency. 

An account is considered overdue when the due date has passed. Collection procedures begin prior to 

an account becoming 30 days past due. 

Slow paying and non-paying customers may be placed on a credit hold list. The credit hold list identifies that 

no new or additional credit may be issued to this customer until the outstanding Accounts Receivable 

balances are paid and reduced. 
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C. Determine the amount required within the Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

At least monthly, Finance reviews the aged Accounts Receivable ledger for accounts at risk. A risk 

account is one where the Finance department has doubts that the balance will be collected. Reasons to 

put an account on a high-risk list include but are not limited to: 

Notification of bankruptcy, with the Finance department immediately forwarding the information to 

the Legal department or outside collection agency. 

Cash-flow issues as indicated by the customer, with broken payment promises or cheques that have been 

returned due to insufficient funds.  

With appropriate documentation the following individuals may approve accounts receivable write- 

offs: 

The Financial accountant or equivalent may “clean up” small discrepancies and insignificant write-offs. 

 

All other write-offs should seek approval from the Head of Finance or equivalent, and in the absence of 

the Finance Director then from the Board of Directors or equivalent. This shall be accompanied by a 

detailed explanation as to the customer’s circumstances, and any Finance actions must be 

documented and maintained. 

 

D. Determine the Internal Measurements for Days Funds Outstanding 

This internal measurement is reported to management monthly and represents the efficiency of the 

funds generated and the collection process. The Days Funds Outstanding calculation is determined 

based on the following formula: 

Days Funds Outstanding for Accounts Receivable 

 

Current end-of-quarter Accounts Receivable balance divided by income for the quarter multiplied by 91 

days 

End-of quarter Accounts Receivable/income for the quarter x 91 

 

Trends may indicate that a change to the company’s Accounts Receivable terms and conditions is 

required. 

Areas of Responsibility 

Daily total of receipts from all funds received from all sources shall be reconciled with the Donor 

Management System. Reconciliations should also be undertaken against cash/cheques banked and all 

sources of donation (JustGiving, online etc.). However, the reconciliations must be reviewed by the 

supervisor and must be signed off. 

If necessary, cash can be temporarily deposited in the safe, while the amounts are recorded in the Donor 

Management System and countersigned by the manager. Moreover, appropriate arrangements 

should be put in place to keep the cash safe. 

Accounts Receivable is the primary point of contact with customers concerning the payment of 

outstanding Account Receivable balances. The collectors are responsible for: 



 66 

Account Receivable aging reports and a list of customers with disputed deductions and overdue 

accounts. 

In accordance with the account reconciliation policy monthly reconciliations between the Accounts 

Receivable sub ledger and the general ledger balances are performed, with the differences 

investigated. 

In order to ensure separation of duties, bank reconciliations and reconciliation of the Accounts 

Receivable accounts are performed by general accounting and not the Accounts Receivable 

function. 

A credit analysis document must be retained for new and existing customers as long as the contract is 

active. Information must be retained in accordance with the records information management 

policy and procedure. 
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Section 10: Budgeting 

10a. Budgeting 

 

It is HA’s policy that in order for HA to implement its strategy effectively, the strategy needs to be 

translated into operating plans and into a budget. Strategic planning is a continuous cycle, and HA 

should ensure that the systematic analysis of HA and the environment in which it operates, is 

undertaken. 

 

The strategy sets out the overall direction of HA, by setting the strategies, objectives and targets for the 

period. 

 

Purpose of Planning and Budgeting 

 

 To set the overall direction of all HA departments/functions 

 Set targets and priorities to measure performance against. 

 Ensure a systematic approach is taken across the organisation. 

 Provide documentation of plans and achievements to aid reporting internally and externally. 

 Facilitate monitoring. 

 Coordinate activities of different divisions and functions within the divisions. 

 Identification of funding required from various income streams. 

 Facilitates the survival of the organisation to avoid liquidity issues arising. 

 

Management Control through Budgeting 

 

 Management control – allows managers to assert effective controls over income and expenses via 

regular reports (including financial commentary). 

 Monitoring and evaluation – ensures project aims are being achieved. 

 Audit controls – funds often have specific expenditure restrictions and compliance 

requirements. Thus, this is an indication that HA is effectively managed and controlled. 

 Survival of HA – ensures that unallowable expenditures are not being made. 

 

10b. Annual Planning Timetable 

A specific timetable should be issued in August of each year as part of the planning process. It is the 

responsibility of the directors to organise the work of their offices/units in order to achieve these 

deadlines. 

10c. Budget Development and Preparation guidance 

1. Operating plans 

 

Departments are responsible for determining their planning process. All departments will work within 

the HA strategy and in light of the direction set out by Leadership team for the coming year. 
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The first step for each office and department is to formulate its operating plan for the coming year; the 

following will need to be covered: 

Linking to the strategy. 

 

 The core activities should be identified. 

 Additional desired activities should be identified. 

 Activities should be prioritised. 

 The desired outcomes should be SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and time- 

bound), with milestones to facilitate monitoring. 

 Risks associated with each activity, identifying how each risk will be managed. 

 Resource requirements should be identified stating whether related to core activities or 

supplementary activities. 

This should be used to prepare the budget; budgets should be prepared in accordance with this policy. 

 

2. Budget Basis 

 

HA will each year produce cash-based budgets adopting the zero-based budgeting principles: a 

budgeting method whereby all the activities are re-evaluated each time a budget is set. Each activity is 

justified and considered on a cost versus benefit basis. 

The Budget Holder (department manager) and the director must challenge existing practices and 

ensure a questioning attitude is adopted. The following are some of the questions that must be applied to 

each activity and process or cost: 

 Does the activity need to be undertaken? 

 What is the alternative method of undertaking this activity? 

 What would be the effects if the activity was not undertaken? 

 To what extent does the activity benefit HA? 

 Is the current level of provision adequate? 

 Is the expenditure justified in view of the benefits? 

 Should each activity be rated? 

 

The director is responsible for ensuring that all budgets are prepared. The director will be responsible for 

preparing budgets for the units and offices they are responsible for. The Finance function will support 

this process by providing relevant comparison information. 

3. Steps to Budgeting – Process 

 

Each director must ensure that budgets are prepared in conjunction with the Finance function, 

ensuring that each budget is prepared with the assistance of Finance staff who should challenge the 

status quo to arrive at an accurate prediction of income and costs. 
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4. Steps to Budgeting – Income Projection 

 

In conjunction with the Finance functions each income generating unit will need to analyse and predict 

income for the coming year in line with the following bases: 

A historical analysis needs to be undertaken from DMS (Donor Management System), by source of fund 

and by category of fund. 

Emergency response-related income will be excluded from the historic analysis to facilitate an 

accurate view of the underlying pattern, to establish a pattern for future income projections. 

Income is to be analysed to show the historical trend of unrestricted and restricted funds, to facilitate 

setting appropriate retention levels for unrestricted funds for future years. 

Accurate projections for future income to be generated needs to be undertaken. These income 

projections need to incorporate historical trend analysis produced and factors that will facilitate 

increases in the income levels. 

5. Steps to Budgeting – Expenditure Projection 

 

The zero-based budgeting basis should be adopted. 

 

Each office and/or department should analyse expenditure for the previous years for similar 

activities/projects undertaken. 

Realistic assessments should be undertaken of previous years’ under and over expenditures, including 

areas that were not budgeted. 

The assigned budget holders (managers) will need to take steps to ensure that they have the following 

information to make informed decisions and accurately prepare the budget: 

 Employee costs. 

 Cost of activities to be undertaken. 

 Projected annual campaign income from specific fundraising units. 

 Gifts in-kind. 

 Core activities and supplementary activities to be performed (Operating Plan). 

 

Fixed costs and committed contracts should be accurately assessed to determine the minimum level of 

operation if contingency plans need to be implemented. 

6. Cash-flow and Activity Timeline-linked 

 

Once the budgets have been prepared, each budget holder with the Finance function should produce an 

activity linked cash-flow forecast. It is the responsibility of the director to ensure that there is a 

complete activity linked cash-flow for the Division. 

7. Evidence and Justification 
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In determining the budgets, it is essential that the director and the managers can justify their budgets and 

provide evidence of the underlying assumptions. Justification of the budget will be in reference to the 

specific activities stated in the operating plan. Evidence of the budgets will be in reference to current 

cost information or other relevant information in support of amounts included within the budgets. 

8. Time-bound 

 

It is the responsibility of the directors to profile their budgets into calendar months. This should be 

communicated to HA Finance by December of each year. This is essential for HA to adequately manage its 

liquidity and cash-flow. 

10d. Review and Challenge Process 

The budget and income projections shall undergo a review and challenge process whereby each 

director shall be invited to the Budget Review Committee to justify their plans, budgets and income 

projections. 

Budgets will be subject to a challenge process by the Budget Review Committee, in order to check that the 

evidence is reliable and robust, and that the overall budget and plans of HA remain realistic and 

achievable. 

The Budget Review Committee will undertake the process in an unbiased and objective manner; thus, any 

individual with a vested interest in any budgets will have an unvoiced representation on the 

Committee. 

The Budget Review Committee shall perform this activity prior to submission of budgets and income 

projections to the Board of Trustees. 

Key Considerations for the Budget Review Committee: 

 

1. Access the income projections taking into consideration: 

a. Emergency response-related income excluded to facilitate an accurate view of the 

underlying pattern of real growth. 

b. Income analysis between unrestricted and restricted funds – to facilitate setting 

appropriate retention levels for unrestricted funds for future years. 

c. The accuracy of projections for the generation of future income. 

2. The funding mix between grass-root fundraising, corporate sponsorship, institutional donor, 

high net worth donor etc. mix 

3. Specific country specific project funding for the coming year. 

4. The Budget Review Committee will ensure that particular regard is given to ensuring the 

future growth and viability of the organisation; thereby, the level of predicted income to be 

retained in unrestricted reserves for future periods will be determined each yea 

10e. Budget Management 

The director has overall responsibility for budgets within his/her Division. Managers are responsible for 

the monitoring of their own department/project budgets. The director is required to ensure that the 

budgets are being monitored effectively and must retain overall responsibility for all budgets within 
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his/her Division. 

Budget Management involves working within the cost-ed plan of activities. It involves investigating 

reasons for variances from the budget, taking corrective action as appropriate. 

To facilitate this management, Finance will provide online access to reports (expected 1st quarter 2016) 

to all directors and managers: 

 

Managers, in light of the information from the Finance functions, are required to prepare statements 

indicating the planned activities and committed against original budgets, highlighting reasons for any 

variances in planned and committed activities. 

The summary report will highlight budget lines that have a variance greater than + or -10% year-to- date. 

It is important that the manager reviews both the summary report and the detailed transaction report, to 

ensure that transactions have been coded to the correct codes. 

Meetings will take place between Finance functions and the relevant budget holders (unit managers), 

which will facilitate a greater understanding of the budget/monitoring/forecasting process. 

The Audit Committee has a responsibility to ensure that the monitoring process is effective. 

 

Variance Analysis 

 

It is essential that significant variances are investigated, and their causes identified. Managers should be 

able to analyse variances by comparing the details of actual expenditure to the original plan. The notes 

on assumptions underlying the budget estimates will be useful to the unit managers to help analyse 

the financial information. It is important to recognise the cause so that appropriate action can be taken. 

10f. Revision Policy 

A request for a revision to the budget for the current year should be made to the Board of Trustees and 

be supported by original and revised operating plans. This request should be accompanied by a detailed 

explanation of the revision requested. 

Time-bound Revisions: An automatic revision will take place in all budgets when projected expenditure 

is time-bound. For example – a new employee is expected to commence employment at the beginning of 

a new calendar year, but by the end of the first quarter the employee has still not been employed. So 

the department’s budget in respect of the projected salary cost will automatically be reduced to reflect 

the lapse of time and amount budgeted that cannot be carried forward into the next period. 

The Budget Review Committee subject to approval from the Board of Trustees, can instruct all 

departments/offices to move to a contingency budget in light of review of financial results. 

Control Objectives Expected Controls 

Budgets and Forecasts 
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Budgets and forecasts are prepared, 

authorised and submitted to HUMAN APPEAL in 

line with HUMAN APPEAL Reporting 

Timetable. 

1. Annual budgets are prepared, reviewed by 

management, approved, and submitted to HA 

within the expected timelines as outlined 

within HA Policy. 

2. A timetable is in place to aid production of 

regular budget reports. Progress made 

against the timetable is monitored by 

management. 

3. Budget holders have been formally notified of 

HA budgets, and have received appropriate 

written instructions, advice and training 

concerning HA responsibilities from the 

Director of Finance. 

4. Any requests for changes to the budget are 

processed as per HA guidelines. 

Actual balances are monitored against 

budget. 

5. Variances identified (as per HA Finance 

Manual) on budget reports are investigated, 

and budget holders are required to provide 

explanations accordingly. 

6. There is evidence of regular reporting to the 

HA of variances identified and action plans. 

7. There is regular reconciliation of individual 

budgets to the overall budget. 
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Section 11: Month-End Close 

It is HA’s policy to ensure that all stakeholders have access to accurate results from the latest reporting 

period. Accounting procedures are implemented to ensure that HA’s month-end close process is 

constantly reviewed and updated to achieve continual improvements in the closing process; careful 

delineation of the tasks required of each person; and shifting of closing tasks forward into the 

accounting period to be closed. 

 

Procedures 

 

 

Days from 

Month-End 

Task Description Functions to be performed 

Daily. 

 

Minimum 

weekly. 

Complete bank reconciliations. Bank: Ensure that all settlements are 

processed, deposits received, and any other 

cash transactions, (i.e., bank charges, 

automatic debits/payments, letters of credit, 

etc.) have been recorded on DMS and SAGE 

and that they reconcile to the bank 

statement. 

-4 Review any factors that may impact the 

closing schedule; if schedule amended 

distribute to Finance employees. 

 

-4 1. Verify that recurring journal entries 

are still correct for the current reporting 

period. 

2. Review ledger reports with the most 

recent information and investigate 

unusual variances. 

Recurring journals should be setup as 

periodic journals which only require posting 

when month-end processing begins. 

Reconciliation reports should be run after all 

periodic, accrual journals, and settlements 

have been posted. If standard working 

practices are adhered to there should be no 

variances or corrections required. 

-2 Review DMS and scheduled payments 

and verify that all contractual 

agreements have been billed to 

customers. 

Accounts Receivable 

 

 Settle Open Transactions: 

 Allocate any un-settled 

 transactions that can now be 

 matched or receipts/invoice and 

credit 
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  notes that are still open and 

not allocated against each 

other. 

-2 Review the Requisitions and scheduled 

payments and verify that all contractual 

agreements have been either paid to 

vendors or accrued. 

Accounts Payable 

 

 Invoice Matching: Ensure that all 

registered invoices have been 

approved and if not, chase the 

approvals. 

 Ensure all invoices are registered and 

matched to relevant Purchase 

Orders, where this cannot be 

achieved investigate and report to 

supervisor/financial accountant. 

Settle Open Transactions: 

 

 Allocate any un-settled transactions 

that can now be matched. For 

example payments/invoice and 

credit notes that are still open and 

not allocated against each other. 

Payment run: Run a payment proposal and 

generate relevant payment journal to 

ensures vendors are paid within terms of 

payments. 

-2 Complete  all  allocation/ cross-charging 

bases. 

 

-1 Complete bank reconciliations (this 

should be daily or as minimum weekly). 

Bank: Ensure that all settlements are 

processed, deposits received, and any other 

cash transactions, (i.e., bank charges, 

automatic debits/payments, letters of credit, 

etc.) have been recorded on financial system 



 75 

 

  and that they reconcile to the bank 

statement. 

-1 Conduct a preliminary review of the 

agreements to ensure that all customers 

have been billed. 

All settlements should be allocated/matched 

as of the last day of the month. This is 

automatic functionality, when agreement is 

signed-off the instalment schedule will be 

entered on the project, then each month a 

proposal will be run which will show Finance 

what requires to be billed. 

+1 Compare all month-end reports to 

general ledger balances and reconcile 

differences. 

Reconciliation to GL: 

 

 Run the reconciliation reports to 

ensure 

 Accounts Receivable, 

 Accounts Payable 

 Fixed Assets and Inventory Ledgers 

matches the General Ledger. 

 Rectify any incorrect postings. 

 

Reconciliation reports should be run after all 

periodic, accrual journals, and settlements 

have been posted. If standard working 

practices are adhered to there should be no 

variances or corrections required. 

+1 1. Complete the bank reconciliations. 

 

2. Cancel all outstanding cheques more 

than 90 days old. 

3. Complete petty cash reconciliation. 

 

4. Complete the safe reconciliation. 

Bank: Ensure that all settlements are 

processed, deposits received, and any other 

cash transactions, (i.e., bank charges, 

automatic debits/payments, letters of credit, 

etc.) have been recorded on SAGE and that 

they reconcile to the bank statement. 
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+1 1. Complete invoicing to all customers. 

 

2. Close the accounts receivable module. 

 

3. Review accounts receivable aging with 

the senior accountant and determine 

the amount of any bad debt accrual. 

4. Review old accounts receivable and 

write off selected balances with 

director’s approval. 

5. Prepare a detailed schedule of other 

accounts receivable. 

Accounts Receivable 

 

Aged Debt: Run Aged Debt report and analyse 

as appropriate. 

 

 

Customer Statements: 

 

Run Customer Statements and process 

accordingly. 

 

 

Collection Letters: Run the collection letter 

sequence, email and send out to relevant 

partners/donors. 

+2 Review the bank reconciliations.  

+2 1. Review cut-off information and accrue 

for any missing supplier invoices based 

on Requisition costs. 

2. Accrue for any unpaid employee 

benefits. 

3. Review the repairs and maintenance 

account to ensure costs that have been 

expensed actually be charged to Repairs 

and maintenance account and not 

capitalised as a Fixed Asset. (Preparation 

for standard external audit test). 

4. Close the accounts payable module. 

 

In SAGE; Accrual for missing invoices based on 

Requisition costs will not be required as there 

will be commitment and delivery note accrual 

postings made automatically. 

+2 1. Review Inventory balances and 

conduct a reasonableness test of 

quantities on hand and costs in 

comparison to previous periods. 

2. Conduct sample test counts for all 

Inventory classes exceeding 10% of total 

Inventory value. 

Stock Recalculation: 

 

Complete a physical count of all that you have in 

the warehouse and accordingly adjust your 

stock balances up or down, using relevant 

Stock Count Journal. Run Stock 

Recalculation routine and check postings to 

the Ledger are correct. 
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 3. Close the Inventory module.  

+3 1. Review asset sales and disposals, and 

update fixed asset records accordingly. 

2. Record gains and losses on the sale of 

assets. 

General Ledger 

 

In SAGE; All Fixed Asset reconciliation, 

disposal, scrap, depreciation and acquisition 

are catered for with standard functionality. 

 
3. Update the fixed-assets schedule and 

calculate depreciation. 

Fixed Assets Depreciation: 

 

Run Fixed Asset 

 4. Verify that depreciation totals do not 

exceed the totals of asset valuations less 

disposal values. 

Depreciation journals. Run 

Fixed Assets Reports. 

 5. Reconcile the general ledger fixed- 

asset and accumulated depreciation 

balances to the detail ledger balances 

and correct any variances. 

Reconciliation to GL 

 

Verification: (To ensure any Adjustments 

required are adjusted) 

 
6. Close the fixed asset module. Run the reconciliation reports to ensure 

Accounts Receivable, Accounts Payable and 

Inventory Ledgers matches the General 

Ledger. 

  
Rectify any incorrect postings. 

+3 1. Complete all remaining accruals. Accruals: Prepare all relevant accrual 

journals, checking that correct reversal date 

has been Identified, check and post. 

 

 

Periodic Journals: Verify all periodic Journals 

(e.g. Salaries, Rent, etc.) have been posted 

FX Adjustment: Run 

 

Exchange Rate adjustment on open 

transactions. (General Ledger, Accounts 

Payable and Accounts Receivable). 

 
2. An intercompany reconciliation 

should be undertaken to verify inter- 

company balances. 

 
3. Summarise prepaid assets and 

compare to balances from the previous 

period. Review balances with the 

Finance manager and determine the 

extent of prepaid write-downs for the 

period. 

 
4. Update detailed schedules for all 

balance sheet accounts. 

 
5. Trace all journal entries to the 

summary-level general ledger and 

investigate all variances. 
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+4 1. Complete all operating data for 

inclusion in the financial statements. 

2. Consolidate incoming entries from 

sub-offices. 

3. 3. Complete a preliminary set of financial 

statements. 

 

+5 Finalise the financial statements and 

issue to stakeholders. The following 

reports should be included in the 

statements: 

-Income and Expenditure statements by 

department/project; 

-Key operating statistics; 

-Balance sheet; 

-Cash-flow and funds balances. 

 

 

Reporting: Once all month-end processes have 

been completed run relevant month- end 

management reports. 

Close/Stop Period: Open new “current” 

period. 

+6 Review variances too small to be checked 

during the closing process. 

 

 

+7 1. Review the size of the cut-off level 

used to eliminate variance 

investigations. 

2. 2. Review the contents and layout of the 

financial statements, and plan for 

changes in advance of the next close. 

 

+8 Review problems with the last close and 

agree on necessary changes to be made 

for the next close. 
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Control Objectives Expected Controls 

Financial Closing and Reporting processes are 

clearly defined and communicated. 

1. Documented policies and procedures 

/ defined processes are in place for 

the Financial Closing and Reporting 

functions. 

2. Roles and responsibilities within finance 

functions are well defined. These roles 

provide appropriate segregation of duties 

within these functions. 

Financial transactions are appropriately 

accounted for. 

3. Accounting for all transactions, is performed 

in line with the HA Accounting Policies and 

Procedures Manual. Finance management 

reviews all period-end tasks to determine 

whether this has been performed 

appropriately. 

Finance systems are appropriable controlled 4. Password restrictions in place. 

5. Adequate back up procedures in place to 

secure data. 

6. Disaster recovery plans in place and tested. 

Financial closing 
 

The financial closing and reporting process is 

well-established and appropriately 

documented, including internal and external 

deadlines; 

7. Month-end closing checklists exist and are 

maintained and used for critical tasks to be 

performed during period end close. 

Management performs a review of completed 

checklists to ensure all tasks have been 

performed and in a timely manner. 

8. Any updates to the checklist are approved by 

management and communicated to all 

subsidiaries in a timely manner. 
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Section 12: Reporting 

Reporting 

 

It is HA’s policy to ensure that all stakeholders have access to accurate results from the latest reporting 

period; thus, internal and external stakeholders receive monthly, quarterly and annual reports in a 

timely manner in line with communicated timelines. 

 

Procedure 

 

All HA offices should report on each income and expenditure matched with the budget lines and must 

produce financial reports on a monthly and quarterly basis. All reports should contain the base 

currency and reporting currency; the reporting currency is GBP. Those reports concerning fund raising 

partners and institutional donors should also contain the currency of their approved budget. 

The financial reports should include: 

 

In-country reporting; 

 

 Group reporting; 

 Donor reporting; and 

 Statutory annual reporting. 

 

Monthly financial reports should be ready no later than on the 15th of the following month. Quarterly 

and semi-annually reports should be ready no later than on the 20th of the first month of the next 

quarter or half year. 

These reports should be reviewed and approved by the Head of Finance or equivalent. The Head of 

Finance is responsible for submitting quarterly reports to the Executive. 

Monthly Reports 

 

Monthly reports should be submitted to the relevant office management to facilitate their planning 

and project decisions. Monthly reports should be signed off by the Finance manager or equivalent and 

should be easily accessible for the analysis of various departments. Monthly budget vs. actual report 

should be sent to the HA UK for the transfer of funds for the relevant projects. 

Monthly reports contain the following: 

 

 Projects budget vs. actual (income & expenditure) report from the system. 

 Trial balance report from the system. 

 Incomes raised by projects. 

 Monthly cash-flow report. 

 Bank reconciliation statements. 

 Funds transfer reconciliation statement. 
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 Project liquidation report for each project ended during the month. 

 Staff timesheets, cross-charged to different projects. 

 Core office cost report. 

 Fundraising expenditure report. 

 

Quarterly Reports 

 

Finance is responsible for preparing monthly, quarterly and semi-annually financial reports when 

required. 

The deadline for quarterly reports for submission is the 20th of each following month, which should 

include: 

 The standard balance sheet from the system. 

 The trail balance from the system. 

 Budget vs. actual (income & expenditure) by project in required reporting format. 

 In-kind donations, which should also be included in income & expenditure, based on the 

estimated valuation per air freight/shipment bills. 

 Stock valuation at the end of quarter. 

 Fixed-assets register at the end of quarter. 

 The GL report (Transaction Detail by Account) from the system. 

 Incomes raised by projects. 

 Monthly cash-flow report. 

 Core office cost report. 

 Fundraising expenditure report. 

 Funds report by project showing project status at a glance. 

 Cross-charging report for support cost allocation to different projects. 

 Micro Credit project funds report showing all income received, disbursed and balance in hand. 

 

These reports should be reviewed and approved by the office director. 

 

Donor Reports 

 

There are two main types of donor reports that are due from time to time as per contract agreement, 

and annually: 

 Budget vs. actual (income & expenditure) report with budget variance; 

 Full project details must be mentioned on the top of report. 

 

Reports due to institutional donors should be in the donor’s reporting format. If the donor has no 

specific format, the report should be in the HA standard reporting format. 

A copy of the report should be submitted to HA for the records for the reports submitted to the donors 
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for locally funded projects. 

 Emergency Reports 

 

In the initial phase of an emergency, when emergency teams are deployed immediately after the 

outbreak of a disaster, and where there is no accounting system in place, only the cash book should be 

submitted to HA on a weekly basis, until the accounting system is put in place. 

Once the accounting system is fully operational, daily accounting records should be entered as usual and 

the following reports should be submitted to the management on the ground and to HA, for a 

maximum period of three months: 

The cash book with receipts and payments using the HA standard format with HA budget codes; An 

income & expenditure report by project. 

Areas of Responsibility 

 

The Finance function is responsible for ensuring the quality and timeliness of reports due to donors and 

headquarters, and for providing full support to staff, and for ensuring that all reports are submitted 

within the correct timeframe, and that they are reconciled with the narrative reports. 

The Head of Finance is responsible for ensuring that the reports content meets the following minimum 

criteria. The Head of Finance or equivalent is responsible for reporting to the Board of Trustees at 

stipulated times. 

Internal Reports 

 

Internal reports are crucial in the decision-making processes of management, project staff, and 

financial staff, and they help in compiling external reports. 

Management Reporting 

 

Managers should be provided with financial information throughout the financial year in order to 

monitor the progress of projects. 

Management reports should be produced monthly. 

 

There are two kinds of reports that will be of use to manages: 

 

1. The budget compared to actual performance report; and 

 

2. The cash-flow report. 

 

The Budget Compared to Actual Performance Report 

 

A budget versus actual reports takes budgeted incomes and expenditures for the reporting period and 

compares them with the actual incomes and expenditures for the same period. The difference 

between the two figures is known as the “variance”, and this difference can vary in significance. 
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Variance Analysis: 

 

This involves looking at the significant variation from the budget and seeking to explain why it exists and 

what can be done to remedy the situation. Variances are often described as either “favourable” or 

“adverse”. 

Favourable means: 

 

When actual income is higher than the budget amount, or 

When actual spending is lower than that budgeted for. 

Adverse means: 

 

When actual income is lower than the budgeted amount, or 

When actual spending is higher than that budgeted for. 

A value of +/- 10% is a reasonable variance. It is also helpful to analyse the cause of variances and 

whether it is a permanent or temporary variation. 

Finance should include narrative explanations to assist managers/budget holders in understanding the 

reports issued. 

The Cash-Flow Report 

 

The cash-flow report is simply the cash-flow forecast updated with the actual receipts and payments 

each month, plus any new information about future spending. 

It allows managers to predict periods when cash balances are likely to be insufficient to meet all commitments, 

and to make the most of any surplus funds during the year. 

Inter-projects Adjustment and Allocation Statement 

 

This indicates the amount used from other projects, and if the donor/funding partner approves it. 

 

In Country Reporting 

 

Monthly reports should be submitted to the concerned office management for their planning and 

decisions about the projects, monthly reports should be signed off by finance manager and should 

easily be accessible for different departments for their analysis. Monthly Budget vs. Actual report 

should be sent to the International Office for the transfer of funds for the relevant projects. 

Monthly reports should contain the following: 

 

Projects Budget vs. Actual (Income & Expenditure) report from the system (This shows the activity for the 

month as well as up to date status) 

 Trial Balance report from the system 

 Balance Sheet reconciliation 
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 Bank reconciliation statements 

 Funds transfer reconciliation statement 

 Project liquidation report for each project ended during the month 

 Time sheets for the staff cross charged to different projects. 

 Monthly in Country Local Management Report 

 

Monthly management reports should be presented to local management of each area offices in the 

relevant country showing the summary status and cover the following: 

 Funds status of the projects 

 Cash flow and requirements 

 Projects budget vs actual summary 

 Project critical areas and concerns 

 

External Reports 

 

External reports reinforce trust and accountability to stakeholders such as donors, legal bodies, 

beneficiaries, etc. 

The Donor Report 

 

Financial accountability requires that HA must demonstrate to the donor that their funds have been 

used for the purpose for which they were intended. It is vital to comply with these conditions, and to 

meet reporting deadlines in order to establish credibility and encourage confidence. 

 To meet the reporting deadlines (and to request an extension if this is not possible). 

 To produce accurate and verifiable figures. 

 Not to conceal under-spends or over-spends. 

 To add notes to the budget comparison report to explain any significant variation. 

 To keep the donor informed of any potential problems. 
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Section 13: Year-End Close 

Year-End Close 

 

It is HA’s policy to produce the annual report for the year ended 31st December in a complete and 

accurate format by 30 April of the year following, and to be submitted to the Board of Trustees by 

May. 

 

The Annual Report and Financial Statements is the most important document produced by a charity 

annually. It is vital that charity’s image and professionalism is not affected; thus, the need to produce a 

complete and accurate annual report on a timely basis. 

The Audit Committee should review and make recommendations to the Annual Report and Financial 

Statements prior to the commencement of the audit, thereby the audit can commence with no 

changes from Human Appeal’s perspective. 

Human Appeal should plan to produce the annual report and financial statements for the year ended 

31 December in a complete an accurate format by end of April of the year following and submitted 

to the Audit Committee by May. 

Pre-Year End 

 

Familiarisation with the changes of SORP 2015 will be required by those preparing the financial 

statements. Key changes include consideration whether Human Appeal falls under FRSSEE SORP ir FRS 102 

SORP. 

Some key changes 

 

All charities must explain reserve policies, state the amount and why reserves held. 

 

Risk Management - a description of principle risks and uncertainties need to be explained. 

 

Large charities must now explain their arrangements for setting pay and remuneration of key 

management personnel. 

Format of SOFA has changed and some key notes. 

Changes on Cash flow to be noted. 

Planning and Preparation 

 

Regular proactive communication between the respective departments is recommended, to 

accommodate and plan for any delays or unforeseen circumstances. 

 

 

Furthermore, in line with good practice, it is beneficial to keep all colleagues informed of progress. 
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In order to facilitate teamwork across the various departments and to ensure timelines are adhered to, 

the process and expected timelines are set out below: 

 

 

 

 

 

Area to provide information on Responsibility Date due by 

1. Objects of Human Appeal as per 

the governing document. 

Legal February 

2. Explanation of the aims of 

charity’s, including the changes or 

differences it wishes to make. 

 

 

Aims 

 

Impact – changes/differences 

sought through operational 

activities 

Programmes 

 

Accountability & Learning 

department 

February 

3. Explanation of charity’s main 

objectives for the year. 

Programmes February 

4. Explanation of charity’s strategies 

in achieving stated objectives. 

Programmes February 

5. Significant activities that 

contributed to the performance of 

the objectives: 

 

 

Projects undertaken – 

achievements against objectives; 

Narrative with case studies, 

 

beneficiary numbers or use of other 

qualitative indicators or measures; 

Programmes February 
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Type of projects undertaken by 

sector; 

Beneficiaries-selection policy for 

grant making 

Any factors outside Human Appeal’s 

control that affect the achievement 

of objectives – funders, 

beneficiaries, staffing, etc. 

  

6. Photographs to have a narrative 

description. 

Marketing February 

7. Expenditure note on projects. Finance February 

8. Grant-making policy explained. Finance & Programmes February 

9. Social or programme-related 

investment policies explained. 

Programmes February 

10. Fundraising: 

 

Explanation of fundraising activities 

undertaken with details of 

performance against objectives; 

Fundraising achievements and 

efficiency 

Principal sources of income 

 

Volunteers – use of volunteers 

should be explained to enable the 

reader to understand the role and 

contribution played by volunteers – 

i.e., activities provided; 

hours worked or indication of 

indicative value. 

Fundraising February 
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11. Finance Review: 

 

Reserves policy statement, stating 

the level of reserves held and why 

they are held; 

Designated funds – purpose of the 

designation; 

Principal funding sources identified 

with how expenditure has been 

incurred. 

Finance February 

12. Plans for the future: 

 

The aims and objectives that have 

been set for the coming year and 

details of the activities planned to 

achieve them. 

CEO/Deputy CEO February 

 

 

Section: Reference and administrative details 

 

1. Charity registration details 

(legal name and address). 

Legal February 

2. Name of Trustees who are 

serving at the date of report 

approval (sign off). 

Legal February 

3. Names of CEO and senior staff 

members to whom day-to-day 

management is delegated. 

Legal February 

4. Names and addresses of 

bankers, solicitors, Auditors and 

investment or other principal 

advisors. 

Legal February 



 89 

Section: Structure, governance and management 

 

1. Details of how Human Appeal 

is constituted. 

Legal February 

2. How trustees are recruited 

and appointed. 

Legal February 

3. Explanation of policies and 

procedures for induction and 

training of Trustees. 

Legal February 

4. Organisational structure and 

how decisions are made, type of 

decisions taken by Trustees and 

those delegated to the CEO and 

the senior management team. 

CEO Office February 

5. The relationship between 

Human Appeal and related 

parties, and other organisations 

with which it co-operates in 

pursuit of its charitable 

objectives. 

CEO Office February 

6. Letter from the Chair of the 

Board of Trustees and the CEO. 

CEO Office February 

 

Section: HR 

 

Remuneration Policy for key 

management personnel 

HR February 

Holidays accrued number and 

value 

HR February 

Average number of employed HR February 

Higher paid emoluments from 

£60k up in £10k bands. 

HR February 

The relationship between Human 

Appeal, trustees and related 

parties, and other organisations 

with which it co-operates in 

CEO Office February 
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pursuit of its charitable 

objectives. 

  

 

 

1. The Trustees’ Report should be completed by March and be passed to Media for editing and 

review. The review should be completed by end of March. 

2. The edited Trustees’ Report should be passed to the Finance Unit for review. 

 

Planning and Financial Preparation Throughout the Year 

 

1. Prior to the year-end 31 December; all Finance should to be taking steps to ensure that all 

accounting processes (Payables, Receivables, General Ledger, Bank, Balance Sheet account and Other 

Reconciliations, etc.) are up-to-date. 

2. All records should be maintained and kept up-to-date throughout the year, ensuring that they are 

complete. 

3. Where applicable the Finance should be reconciling and agreeing inter-company balances prior to 31 

December. 

 

Financial Aspects of the Annual Report 

 

4. As of 31 December (closing financial year) to 31 January of the following year Finance should: 

 

Å Complete all transactions, reconciliations of all balance sheet accounts, etc. 

 

Å Make provisions for Accruals and Prepayments. 

 

Å Prepare an aged debtor/creditor report sat year end. 

 

Prepare lead schedules. 

 

Å Prepare year-end files for the audit. 

 

5. By 31 January Finance should have ready: 

 

Å Summary and detailed trial balances (electronic and paper versions); and 

 

Å Year-end files. 

 

6. As of February, Finance should verify the data and commence the preparation of the Financial 

Statements, if appropriate. 
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Non-Financial Aspects of the Annual Report 

 

7. The Marketing/Online function should commence work on the design of the Annual Report 

document to ensure that a web format can be produced as of 31 December with completion being by 

end of March. 

 

 

Combining the Financial and Non-Financial Aspects of the Annual Report 

 

8. Finance will receive the edited Trustees’ Report as well as design of the Annual Report. Finance 

should merge the document. 

9. Finance is required to undertake a thorough review of the complete document including: 

 

Å Cross-casting and cross referencing all figures; and 

 

Å Reviewing and cross-referencing financial against non-financial information. 

 

10. Finance is required to prepare lead schedules for all notes to the accounts and include them as 

part of the year-end file for the Auditors. 

11. Finance is required to complete the Annual Report and Financial Statements by end of March. 

 

 

Review Process 

 

12. The completed Annual Report and Financial Statements should be forwarded to the Audit 

Committee, who will undertake a review of the Annual Report during April. 

13. The Audit Committee will advise the Finance department of any amendments by Mid-April 

 

14. The Finance unit will complete the amendments by 3rd week of April and forward the revised 

Annual Report to the Audit Committee and will print a final draft for the Auditors. 

 

Audit 

 

15. The Auditors will be given a final draft on end of April, prior to commencing the audit. 

 

16. It is expected that the Auditors undertake onsite auditing between April and May. 

 

17. The Auditors will be expected to have open communication with the Head of Finance 

throughout the period of the audit. 

 

18. On the completion of the onsite work the Auditors are expected to meet with the Head of 

Finance, advising on any audit adjustments and expected issues to appear in the management letter. 
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19. It is expected that the Auditors clearance meeting will take place by the end of May. 

20. Finance will undertake any changes to the Annual Report during the period and coordinate with 

the Auditors seeking final approval. 

21. With the Final Annual Report being printed, ready for sign off on or before Mid-June, an 

electronic copy of the Final Annual Report will be sent to the Auditors by Finance before the close- 

out meeting. 

 

Website and Intranet 

 

22. Copies of the Annual Report and Financial Statements will be made accessible on the website by end 

of June. 

Year End Checklist 

 

Year-end Checklist Review comments/Action taken/to be taken 

Opening Balances as at 1 January: correctly 

posted as per Finance ETB. 

 

Income Records: with supporting 

documentation. 

 

Purchase Ledger: supported by copies of 

the suppliers' invoices, suitably cross- 

referenced. 

 

Grants or funding remaining unpaid at the 

end of the accounting period. 

 

Debtors: ensure that previous year’s 

debtors have been cleared down correctly 

and Gift Aid posted correctly. 

 

Accruals: a list of suppliers' invoices 

remaining unpaid at the end of the 

accounting period correctly captured. 

 

Reconciled bank and cash books. Signed, 

dated and reviewed. 
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A complete set of bank statements for all 

accounts operated during the accounting 

period. 

 

All relevant bank account paying-in books 

and cheque stubs are available as 

supporting documentation. 

 

If relevant, copies of all business-operated 

credit card statements. Each month's 

statement to have attached all relevant 

suppliers' invoices and receipts for the 

expenditure incurred during the period. 

 

Full payroll records and copies of any 

annual returns made during the accounting 

period. 

 

Staff loans/advances made during the 

accounting period. 

 

Detailed records of all P11D notifiable 

amounts paid to directors and staff by way 

of reimbursed expenses (expense forms) or 

benefits-in-kind. 

 

Detailed travel records for any staff who 

may be claiming travel expenses, or who 

may be claiming a mileage allowance for 

use of their private car on HA business. 

 

A year-end finalised trial balance, 

supported by a detailed trial  balance. 

 

Details of any major fixed-asset acquisitions 

and/or disposals during the accounting 

period and the calculation of depreciation. 

 

Details of any loans, finance or hire 

purchase lease agreements entered into 

during the accounting period. 
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Expected Reporting Controls 

 

THE HA and its offices are expected to implement the following controls: 

 

Control Objectives Expected Controls 

Financial closing  

The financial closing and reporting process is 

well-established and appropriately 

documented, including internal and external 

deadlines; 

Month-end closing checklists exist and are 

maintained and used for critical tasks to be 

performed during period end close. Management 

performs a review of completed checklists to 

ensure all tasks have been performed and in a 

timely manner. 

 

 

Any updates to the checklist are approved by 

management and communicated to all 

subsidiaries in a timely manner. 
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Section 14: Exceptional Financial Guidelines during emergencies 

Area Policy 

Transportation of Cash 

to the Field 

The Finance function should give the cash to those HA staff responsible for 

transporting the cash. Cash-payment vouchers should be supported by 

proper cash receipts, acknowledged by the field staff taking receiving 

cash. This cash should be treated as an official advance until it is 

adjusted. 

HA personnel taking HA funds to the field should obtain a receipt from 

the Finance department of HA Offices. This should be signed by the field 

office to acknowledge receipt of cash, while HA employees must return 

the signed forms to the Finance department. 

Procurement If the emergency location country has no established office, then HA 

head office will manage the procurement and delivery to the affected 

location. 

Wherever possible, procurement should take place through HA. In these 

cases, HA will procure the goods and arrange delivery to the country in 

question. 

HA will arrange payments to suppliers in accordance with its existing 

procedures. 

If the emergency arises in a country where there is an established HA 

office, then procurement should take place in accordance with the HA 

Financial Manual, in regard that the payments to suppliers should be 

made via existing banking systems. 

Emergency Supplies 

are Needed Urgently 

Emergency Procurement and Authorization limits will apply. 
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It is HA’s policy to respond to a disaster or emergency situation when that situation is declared. During 

emergencies, HA strives to provide help to those suffering, without delay; hence, there is a clear need to 

set out exceptions to the usual need for compliance with financial guidelines. 

However, HA needs to ensure transparency, accountability and value for money 

 

As a general rule, all the financial procedures outlined in these guidelines must be followed in 

emergencies. When it is not possible to follow a procedure due to extreme impracticality, an 

alternative means of achieving verification, approval and authorisation must be obtained from HA UK, 

Head of Finance. Exceptions are only granted (with adequate authorisation) when the circumstances 

make it impossible to adhere to the procedures stated here. Among the possible circumstances where 

changes in procedures may be required are: 

The non-availability from more than one supplier of items of procurement. 

 

The genuine restriction on physical movement needed to comply with financial procedures – e.g. in the 

case of a law and order situation or natural disaster, etc. 

An acute sense of urgency in executing an intervention which, if delayed, will result in a high 

quantum of loss – e.g. loss of human life, or immense political, social or environmental damage, etc. 

 

 

Detailed Process 

 

Emergency phase activities should be documented as soon as possible through a Preliminary Assessment 

Report (PAR), including the maximum information available. This report should be forwarded to the 

Finance section by the Head of Mission/Focal person. 

Cash Handling and 

Disbursement 

In certain circumstances it will be necessary to procure in-country via cash 

transactions. 

Personnel involved in cash transactions should maintain a hand-written 

cashbook, which should be purchased before leaving for the field. This 

should record Cash In and Cash Out. This will capture the actual 

disbursement of cash and will be beneficial in reconciliation and 

preparing reports at a later stage. 

Note: It will be necessary to prove what was purchased, how, when, 

where and for how much. To pay cash for goods requires receipts, and 

every member of the emergency response team should be issued with a 

receipt book. All receipts should be counter-signed by the Head of 

Mission or team leader or a team witness. 
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Cash Advances All members of the emergency team should be in the habit of recording 

money received and spent and keeping all receipts. 

Limit the number of people handling cash – possibly one person for small 

cash payments (petty cash) and one person for larger payments. 

All advances must be recorded. Without records it rapidly becomes very 

difficult to keep track of advances, leading to loss of money. 

Basic Accounting Ledger Finance personnel/emergency response team members should maintain as 

an absolute minimum a basic ledger showing cash in hand, cash out and in, 

and supplier details. 

These details, when combined with the receipts, will provide sufficient 

information to produce reports. This will provide accountability and audit 

trial when the emergency response team staff have left. 

Minimum Documentation 

 

In circumstances where HA personnel assess that providing the minimum 

documentation is not possible (Purchase Request/Order, Bid Evaluation 

and Delivery Confirmation), then a log must be kept of all payments, that 

records the following: 

Recording of In-Kind Donations 

 

Records should be kept of all in-kind donations and those that have been 

distributed to beneficiaries. Regular and spot-checks should take place to 

ensure there is no loss, misappropriation or theft of in–kind donations. 

Ensure that in-kind donations are not used by local personnel for 

personal use. A regular stock take should take place. 

Records are of the utmost importance, to ensure that donors and 

institutions can be provided with assurance that in-kind donations have 

reached the beneficiaries. 

Emergency Finance Staff It is often not feasible to send a dedicated finance person into an 

emergency situation, but at least one of the emergency team should 

have been trained in basic accountancy training to be the point of 

financial contact. They should be able to undertake a financial 

assessment of the banking requirements of the country, and to operate a 

basic financial system. 

 

Transitional to Operational Phase 
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As the emergency phase moves towards a more stable and secure environment, and so into more 

regular programme implementation, it is essential that finance personnel are in place who are able to 

take responsibility for moving the finance function from the emergency to the operational phase. If 

the finance personnel involved in the emergency phase are handing over, then the emergency team 

should hand over the ledger and records, which should be upgraded to the full-functioning finance 

system. 

As the operation becomes entrenched, all financial responsibility should be taken by the field 

office/partner Finance department. However, it is important for staff involved in the emergency 

phase to be readily available for questions and queries that may arise concerning managed finances. 
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Section 15: Record Retention 

Records and information are created, during the normal course of business, to document transactions and 

support effective decision-making. In an era of ever-increasing litigation and regulatory control, records 

and information must be formally managed and maintained, as specified by applicable laws, regulatory 

agencies and/or operational and contractual requirements. 

The purpose of Records Retention is to: 

 

Comply with Applicable Laws, ensuring that all records are retained: 

 

 as long as they have operational use, 

 in accordance with local laws and regulations, 

 for the period as stated in applicable jurisdictions; and 

 

Comply with Contractual and Internal Operational Requirements, ensuring that records that affect the 

obligations and operations of the company are being retained, and to support external and internal audit 

access requirements. 

Record(s) as referred to within this policy include: 

 

Record(s) such as books, papers, maps, photographs, machine-readable materials or other documentary 

materials, regardless of physical form or characteristics. Records include content, context and structure. 

Records are received or generated in connection with the transaction of business and preserved as 

evidence of the organisation, functions, policies, decisions, procedures, operations or other activities. 

Electronic records include numeric, graphic and textual information that may be recorded in any 

machine-readable media form. 

Vital Records (core business records) are those records containing information essential to the 

continuation or survival of an organisation in the event of a major business interruption or disaster. They 

contain information necessary to recreate an organisation’s legal and financial status, resume operations 

and preserve the rights and obligations of stockholders, customers, partners, employees, and other 

constituent groups. 

This policy applies to HA employees, non-employee directors and officers, consultants, financial and legal 

advisors who create, receive, maintain or control records as part of their work on behalf of the Company. 

Employees who oversee the work effort of non-employees must ensure that non- employees understand 

and abide by this policy, procedure and related retention schedules. 

Ownership of Records 

 

HA holds ownership and title to all records created, received, acquired or maintained in the normal course 

of business, by any employee or organisational component. These records are the property of HA; they shall 

not be used for personal or private purposes and shall be destroyed only in accordance with official 

documented approvals. 

 

 All records created, utilised, or stored on HA’s premises, or under HA control (i.e. off-site storage 
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facilities) shall be retained. 

Procedure 

 

All records, paper and electronic, listed on the retention schedule must be retained for the specified period 

of time. Once the specified retention period has elapsed, such records must be discarded, deleted or 

destroyed as described within the policy. 

One copy of the record or document must be maintained. Local and duplicate records may be maintained 

and stored within the department as long as they have operational relevancy and are to be retained in 

accordance with approved records retention schedules. The department is responsible to ensure the safe 

storage, secure access and prompt destruction of all records. Unmanaged duplicates or convenience 

copies are not in compliance with this policy and can cause the Company to incur unnecessary legal and 

operational expense. 

Maintaining Files 

 

A file should: 

 

 Be neat, well-presented, well-organised and properly indexed; 

 Be secure in both the short and long term; 

 Be consistent with other files in the office of a similar type; 

 Reflect consistent staff procedures and routines; 

 Be consistent with generally accepted good practice; and 

 Comply with any other regulatory or legislative requirements 

 It is absolutely vital that a file is organised. 

 It should not just be a bundle of assorted papers kept in a folder. 

 All papers should be firmly placed on the file – they should not be loose. 

 Files should be indexed in a way that is consistent and easily understood. 

 A standard indexing system should be used throughout the office. The file should form the basis 

of cross-referencing. 

With each section of the file, the first document should always be a Lead Schedule. For accounting files, 

this should summarise the different components of the balance sheet figures or profit and loss items. The 

total on the lead schedule should be agreed and cross-referenced to the figures in the accounts. The 

individual components of the lead schedule should be agreed and cross-referenced to the individual totals 

on the schedules that support that section of the file. 

HA should maintain a permanent file that holds the following documentation: 

 

1. Registration details 

 

HA needs to register in the country of operation and maintain the registration details on permanent file. 

The registration must be approved by HA Trustees. Copies of all letters or emails to and from government 

authorities and legal/external advisors should be maintained. 

2. Tax status 
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HA needs to ensure that they register for the appropriate tax status in the country of operation applicable 

to Non-Governmental Organisations/Charities. Copies of all letters or emails to and from government 

authorities and legal/external advisors should be maintained. 

3. Other permits/official permissions/licences 

 

Copies of all permits/permissions from official sources/government bodies must be maintained. 

 

4. Insurance documents 

 

If any insurance cover has been taken out for any matter, a copy of the certificate and schedule of 

insurance must be retained indefinitely. 

5. Property documents 

 

For all property not rented but owned or donated to HA, there must be maintained a copy of all 

correspondence/emails relating to the same and a copy of the registration document. 

6. Rental agreements 

 

HA renting property or entering into any other form of rental or lease agreements should ensure that the 

relevant documentation is maintained on file and that the agreement has been authorised. 

7. Bank account and list of cheque signatories 

 

HA should maintain an updated record of bank accounts and approved cheque signatories. 

 

8. Organisation chart 

 

HA should maintain an up to date organisation chart that illustrates the structure of the field office and 

any sub-offices. 

Segregation of duties – a riskier operation will require greater segregation of duties, and so more staff will 

need to be employed to ensure that asset custodian, recording and authorisation are separated. 

9. Working with partners 

 

HA, prior to working with partners, must ensure and maintain evidence on record to demonstrate the 

following: 

 All partners have been screened and partnership agreements have been completed and 

reviewed by Internal Audit functions. 

 Copies of any contracts signed are maintained on the permanent file. 

 Partnership agreements. 

 A copy of the partner’s registration document. This should be kept by HA. 

 

10. Accounting Records 
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 These must contain evidence for conclusions reached. 

 These must provide a sufficient record of the basis of the final report. 

 Files and documentation must be capable of being understood by an experienced auditor with no 

prior knowledge of the case. 

 The file should be assembled in an orderly fashion on a timely basis. 

 Records required for local or operational use that may not be listed or identified on the 

Retention Schedules must be retained for as long as they have operational usefulness. 

Maintenance and use 

 

Departments shall develop record-keeping requirements for all official records for which they are responsible. 

Local records and duplicate records are maintained and stored within the department as long as they have 

operational relevancy. The department is responsible to ensure the safe storage, secure access and, as 

appropriate, the prompt destruction of the records. 

Record disposition 

 

Records and information must not be destroyed indiscriminately. For records that have met their 

retention period and are no longer required for operational use, written authorisation must be obtained 

from Legal, Finance and Audit before destruction. 

Areas of Responsibilities 

 

Division and departmental managers are responsible for the retention of all operational records and must 

ensure adequate documented handover upon leaving their posts. 

 

 


